
 

 
 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE AGENDA 
 
Date: 

 

Friday, 18 November 2022 

Time: 

 

10.00 am 

Venue: 
 

Dove Room, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek 

10 November 2022 

 
PART 1 

1. Apologies for absence, if any.  

2. Urgent items of business, if any (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman).  

3. To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the previous meeting. (Pages 3 - 4) 

4. Declarations of interest, if any:  

  Disclosable Pecuniary Interest; 

 Other interests. 

 

5. Debate Not Hate Report (Pages 5 - 42) 

6. Local Government Ombudsman Annual Letter (Pages 43 - 56) 

7. Review of the Code of Conduct (Pages 57 - 66) 

8. Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 The Chair to move:- 
 

"That pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely that exempt information 

as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the public in breach 
of the obligation of confidence or exempt information as defined in Section 100I (1) 

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed to the public by virtue of the 
paragraphs indicated." 
 

9. To approve as a correct record the Exempt Minutes of the previous meeting. 
(Pages 67 - 68) 

10. Standards Complaints Monitoring Report (Pages 69 - 72) 

Public Document Pack



 
MARK TRILLO 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

Membership of Standards Committee  

Councillor G Bond (Chair) Councillor B Emery (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor J Aberley Councillor E Fallows 

Councillor T Hall Councillor I Herdman 
Councillor K J Jackson Councillor W Rogers 
Councillor P Taylor Councillor P Wilkinson 

Councillor D Fowler Mr H Mawdsley 
 



 
 

 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE MEETING 
 

Minutes 
 

FRIDAY, 15 JULY 2022 
 

PRESENT: Councillor G Bond (Chair)   

 
 Councillors J Aberley, D Fowler, T Hall, I Herdman, 

Councillor B A Hughes, Mr H Mawdsley, P Roberts and P Taylor 
and Mr H Mawdsley, 

 

APOLOGIES: Councillors B Emery, K J Jackson and P Wilkinson 
 

1 URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS, IF ANY (24 HOURS NOTICE TO BE 
PROVIDED TO THE CHAIRMAN). 
 

There were no urgent items. 
 

2 TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE 
PREVIOUS MEETING. 
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Standards Committee held on 
25 March 2022 be APPROVED as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

 
3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY: 

 

Councillor Roberts declared an ‘other’ interest in Agenda Item 7 (Exempt minutes of 
the previous meeting) in that he was named in those minutes. 

Mark Trillo took the opportunity to define what constituted a ‘Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest’ when this was queried by members. 
 

4 GOVERNMENT RESPONSE TO THE COMMITTEE ON STANDARDS IN 
PUBLIC LIFE REVIEW OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT ETHICAL STANDARDS 

 

The Committee on Standards in Public Life (CSPL) considered that robust standards 
arrangements were needed to safeguard local democracy, maintain high standards 

of conduct and to protect ethical practice in local government. 
 

In 2018, CSPL undertook a review of local government ethical standards. The 
Council responded to the consultation exercise which informed the report. The full 
details of the outcomes of the review, including best practice and recommendations, 

were reported to the Committee on 22 March 2019 (the CSPL was appended to the 
report). 

 
A further report was presented to the Committee on 19 July 2019. This informed 
members about the best practice recommendations which were incorporated into the 

Council’s Ethical Framework where appropriate. 
 

The Government published its response to the report on 18 March 2022 and this 
was also appended to the report. Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Standards Committee (SMDC) - 15 July 2022 
 

 
A possible change to the current practice at SMDC was with regard to the display of 

personal contact details for Councillors showing on the ‘Declarations of Interest’ form 
which was on the SMDC website. The form could be amended so that the 
Councillor’s home address was not showing. 

 
Monitoring Officer Mark Trillo (MT) confirmed that the only current statutory sanction 

was a fine up to £5,000 for the failure to disclose an interest. Complaints were still 
dealt with at District level and this Council had its own sanctions which were referred 
to Full Council. A recommendation could be made to the Councillor’s Group Leader 

for them to be removed from a particular Committee. Also, measures were available 
to prevent a Councillor being in contact with a particular member of staff. MT also 

confirmed that, if a complaint appeared to indicate criminal behaviour, the matter 
was referred to the Police for them to decide whether that was the case. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be NOTED. 

 

5 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

6 TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE 

PREVIOUS MEETING. 
 

RESOLVED – That the exempt minutes of the meeting of the Standards Committee 
held on 25 March 2022 be APPROVED as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

 

7 STANDARDS COMMITTEE COMPLAINTS MONITORING REPORT 
 

Members considered a report on complaints made under the Code of Conduct in the 
period since the Committee last met. 
 

 
The meeting closed at 10.32 am 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
_________________________________Chairman ____________________Date 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 4



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Standards Committee 
 

18 November 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Debate Not Hate Report 
 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 

Councillor Paul Roberts – Leader 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Linden Vernon - Head of Democratic 

Services 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 

Non-Specific 

 

 
Appendix A – Debate Not Hate Report 

 

 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 The report updates the Committee on the Debate Not Hate report issued by 
the Local Government Association under its civility in public life programme. 

The purpose of the programme is to address intimidation, standards of public 
and political discourse and behaviour in public office and provide support and 
advice to councils and councillors. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report. 
 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 The Local Government Association (LGA) launched a call for evidence to 

formally record the experiences of councillors impacted by abuse and 

intimidation and develop a greater understanding of what could be done to 
improve civility in public life.  The Councillor Census also took place between 

January and February 2022. Both of these exercises revealed the experiences 
of councillors with regards to incidents of abuse and intimidation. 
 

3.2 The following themes with regards to gaps and inconsistencies were identified: 
 

 Variability of support 

 Targeted abuse 

 Personal and democratic impacts  

 Vulnerability of councillors  

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



  

 The normalisation of incidents 
 
3.3 The report makes 7 recommendations.  These relate to councils, government, 

the Police, the LGA and social media organisations taking greater 
responsibility for the safety and wellbeing of councillors, dissemination of good 

practice and changes to legislation. 
 

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The ability of councillors to make good evidence based decisions, free from 
abuse and intimidation, is fundamental to the achievement of the Council’s 
priorities. 

 
 
5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 A number of options for improving the protection of councillors from abuse and 

intimidation are detailed in the report. 
 

 
MARK TRILLO 

Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

Appendix A - Attached Linden Vernon 
Head of Democratic Services 

linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 

 
6. Detail 
 

6.1 Following the publication of the Committee for Standards in Public Life reports 
into Intimidation in public life and Local government ethical standards, the 

Local Government Association (LGA) established the civility in public life 
programme. The purpose of the programme is to address intimidation, 
standards of public and political discourse and behaviour in public office and 

provide support and advice to councils and councillors. 
 

6.2 The LGA launched a call for evidence to formally record the experiences of 
councillors impacted by abuse and intimidation and develop a greater 
understanding of what could be done to improve civility in public life.  419 

respondents from principal councils responded to the call for evidence in the 
first six months. A summary of the key statistics from the survey is set out 

below: 
 

 88% of respondents said they had experienced abuse and/or intimidation, 

directed at them personally in relation to their role as a councillor or 
because they were a political candidate. 

Page 6



  

 98% of respondents who said they had experienced abuse and/or 
intimidation said they had experienced such incidents on multiple 
occasions. 

 Most abuse was received via social media, with 73% of respondents with 
multiple experiences said they received abuse by social media. 

 64% of respondents had been abused and/or intimidated in person. 

 50% of respondents said the abuse was ongoing. 

 72% of respondents said they had taken actions themselves to avoid 
intimidation and/or abuse, or to protect themselves. 

 60% of respondents said they were aware of others being unwilling to 
stand or re-stand for election, or take on leadership roles, due to 
anticipated abuse. 

 42% of respondents said they would be standing for re-election at the next 
election. 

 27% of respondents said they would not stand for the next election and 
31% were undecided, of those respondents 68% said abuse and 

intimidation had influenced their position on whether to stand again. 
 
6.3 The Councillor Census also took place between January and February 2022. 

This survey covered a range of areas including representation, councillor 
views and councillors’ work. Over 5,000 councillors responded to the survey 

which is a response rate of 30%. A summary of the key statistics relating to 
the experiences and impacts of abuse and intimidation of councillors from the 
survey is set out below: 

 

 70% of respondents thought that the council had effective arrangements 

for dealing with inappropriate behaviour by council officers, 57% by 
councillors and 55% by members of the public. 

 28% of respondents had either frequently or occasionally felt at risk 

personally in their role as a councillor, 45% felt at risk rarely and only 26% 
never felt at risk. 

 65% of respondents thought that council arrangements for protecting 
councillors personally were either very or fairly effective. 

 7 in 10 respondents experienced abuse or intimidation in the last twelve 
months; 10% experienced it frequently, 29% occasionally, 33% rarely. Only 
27% had never had any such experiences. 

 63% of respondents felt that the arrangements in place for protecting 
councillors personally were effective. 

 79% of respondents would recommend the role of councillor to others. 

 65% of respondents intended to stand for re-election. 

 
6.4 The abuse described by respondents was multi-faceted and took place in both 

the online and in-person spaces. Death threats, abusive and discriminatory 

language, character assassination and intimidatory behaviour, such as 
encroaching on personal spaces, were common forms of abuse. Destruction 

of property, physical assault and serious ongoing harassment like stalking or 
sexual harassment were reported, but these forms of abuse were rarer and 
more likely to result in some form of police involvement. 

 

Page 7



  

6.5 Threats were a consistent theme throughout the responses and ranged from 
threats to smear a councillor’s reputation to threats to the physical person, 
family or property of the councillor. These threats were seen to be more 

serious due to the public availability of councillors’ personal information, such 
as home addresses on council websites, making councillors more vulnerable 

to serious incidents and high-profile incidents over the past few years. 
 
6.6 59% of respondents believed the abuse was triggered by specific events.  The 

most common trigger was contentious council decisions such as unsuccessful 
planning and licensing applications.  Another trigger for abuse was wider 

council policy on topical issues such as Covid-19 vaccinations and climate 
change. 

 

6.7 The report states that respondents reported a range of behaviours from 
continuous and repeated complaints and objections to personalised verbal 

abuse and intimidatory comments and physical aggression intended to 
inappropriately influence individual councillors and local decision-making. 
Residents have a right to object to policies they are unhappy with; these civil 

liberties are a vital democratic principle and must be maintained. Further to 
this, the LGA actively encourages residents to engage with their local council 

and the decisions that affect their communities. However, actions that amount 
to harassment and devolve into personal attacks or are intended to intimidate 
a councillor into changing their position or actions are not acceptable and this 

is happening far too often. 
 
6.8 Campaigning and canvassing in the community were also highlighted as high-

risk activities by respondents. One respondent labelled door-knocking as 
“particularly harrowing”, with some councillors saying they had concerns about 

their own safety and wellbeing, as well as their volunteers while campaigning. 
Many respondents stated that this abuse was connected to the policy positions 
of their political party or their own views on particularly divisive issues, such as 

leaving the European Union. 
 

6.9 72% of respondents to the survey had taken some action to avoid intimidation 
and abuse. These actions were usually around moderating or managing 
planned and unplanned engagement with the public, specifically using the 

options on social media to block abusive accounts, holding ward surgeries in 
public buildings, never working alone, and installing home security equipment. 

Some respondents commented that their approach had been to disengage 
from social media entirely and move to holding appointment only surgeries or 
“walking surgeries” held outside. 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
6.10 The call for evidence revealed an ongoing issue with abuse and intimidation of 

councillors and concerns about the safety of local politicians that are having an 

impact on councillors and local democracy more widely.  
 

6.11 The report stated that it is important that these issues are addressed to ensure 
that they do not have a detrimental impact on councillors, councils and local 

Page 8



  

democracy in the future. The following themes with regards to gaps and 
inconsistencies were identified: 

 

 Variability of support – The support offered by councils, political parties, 

and the police varied across the country. In particular, respondents 

identified a lack of proactive support from some councils and responses 
from some police forces to threats made against councillors and their 
families. 

 
 Targeted abuse – Evidence from the qualitative responses indicated that 

councillors and candidates with protected characteristics were more likely 
to receive personalised abuse. Misogyny, racism and homophobia were 
particularly highlighted in the responses. 

 
 Personal and democratic impacts – Abuse and intimidation can 

significantly impact councillors and their families, and the wider community. 
Several respondents described the negative impacts of ongoing abuse on 

their mental health and wellbeing. In addition, respondents supported the 
idea that abuse can impact councillors’ willingness to stand for re-election 
or deter others from considering standing for public office. 

 
 Vulnerability of councillors – Many respondents highlighted the visibility 

and accessibility of councillors in their local community, particularly when 
councillors’ home addresses are available online. Councillors are therefore 
vulnerable to physical abuse, particularly compared to national politicians 

who may have greater protections and access to specialist police support. 
 

 Normalisation – There is a growing feeling that abuse and intimidation, 

particularly online, are becoming normalised. Attitudes around councillors 
expecting abuse and being expected to manage abuse with little support 

were prevalent in the responses. 
 

6.12 In considering these findings the report makes the following recommendations:  
 

 Recommendation 1 

Councils and other relevant partners should take greater responsibility for 
the safety and wellbeing of councillors and take a proactive approach to 

preventing and handling abuse and intimidation against councillors. This 
should include addressing the impacts of abuse on councillors’ mental 

health and wellbeing and working in partnership with other agencies and 
councils to ensure that threats and risks to councillors’ safety, and that of 
their families, are taken seriously. 

 

 Recommendation 2 

The LGA should continue to gather and disseminate good practice from 
across the sector, consider what more can be done to prevent abuse and 
intimidation of councillors through the Civility in public life programme, and 

support councils and councillors when these incidents occur. 
 

 
 

Page 9



  

 Recommendation 3 

Police forces should work to improve the consistency of responses to 
abuse of and threats made against councillors and take a risk-based 

approach that accounts for the specific risks that councillors face, as they 
do with other high-risk individuals, such as MPs. This should include 

identifying best practice in relation to councillor support and safety and 
sharing it across the country. 

 

 Recommendation 4 

The Government should prioritise legislation to put it beyond doubt that 

councillors can withhold their home address from the public register of 
pecuniary interests. 

 

 Recommendation 5 

The LGA should work with political parties, election and democratic 

officers, and organisations responsible for guidance to raise awareness of 
the options currently available and promote the practice of keeping home 

addresses private during the election process and once elected. 
 

 Recommendation 6 

Social media companies and internet service providers should 
acknowledge the democratic significance of local politicians and provide 

better and faster routes for councillors reporting abuse and misinformation 
online. 

 

 Recommendation 7 

The relevant Government department should convene a working group, in 

partnership with the LGA, to bring together relevant agencies to develop 
and implement an action plan to address the issue of abuse of local 
politicians and their safety. 

 
6.13 The Council has promoted the “Personal Safety for Councillors” webinars 

conducted by the LGA in recent months.  The LGA’s Personal Safety Guide 
for Councillors can also be viewed via the Councillors’ Portal on the Authority’s 
intranet and will be included in the induction pack issued to all councillors 

following the 2023 all out elections.  Requests received from councillors with 
regards to the visibility of their address details being displayed on the 

Council’s website are always acted upon.   
 
6.14 Under section 32 of the Localism Act 2011 (sensitive interests) where a 

councillor and the Monitoring Officer consider that disclosure of the details of 
an interest (such as address details) could lead to the member or a person 

connected with the member being subject to violence or intimidation those 
interests maybe redacted from the public version of the register. 

 

6.15 The Council also has arrangements in place for both councillors and officers to 
access a free, independent counselling service if required.  This is a strictly 

confidential service for anyone who is experiencing difficulties at work or 
home.  The service is staffed by professional, qualified counsellors who work 
to the British Association for Counselling code of practice. 

 

Page 10



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 1/31

[]

Home [/] >  Publications [/publications]

Our call for evidence of abuse and intimidation of
councillors was launched in October 2021. This
report sets out the findings and recommendations
for the future of local democracy.

Communities [/topics/communities]

28 Jun 2022

Debate Not Hate: The impact of
abuse on local democracy

Executive summary and background

Councillors are at the centre of local democracy. Elected from amongst their local
community and forming a vital link between councils and residents, it is a privilege and
responsibility to be elected to public office. However, increasing levels of abuse and
intimidation in political and public discourse are negatively impacting politicians and
democracy at local and national levels.

Rights to object and constructive challenge are both key components of democracy,
but abuse and intimidation cross the line into unacceptable behaviour and serve to
silence democratic voices and deter people from engaging with politics.

There is a considerable volume of evidence of the impact of abuse, intimidation, and
aggression at a national level, including extreme incidents such as the murder of Jo
Cox MP and Sir David Amess MP.

To understand the impacts on local government and councillors, the LGA launched a
call for evidence of abuse and intimidation of councillors in October 2021. This report
summarises the findings from the first six months of the call for evidence. It sets out
what more could be done to improve support and responses to abuse and intimidation
of councillors and reverse national trends around abuse and intimidation that are
harmful to democracy.   Print   TopPage 11

https://www.local.gov.uk/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/communities


19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 2/31

Key findings
Respondents to the call for evidence were asked to share their personal experiences
of abuse and intimidation as councillors or candidates or abuse of councillors they had
witnessed. This included quantitative questions
[https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/lgas-call-evidence-quantitative-data]
looking at frequency, location and circumstances of abuse. In addition, respondents
were asking for details about triggers of abuse, impacts of abuse personally and more
widely, and reflections on support and responses from relevant agencies.

The following themes were identified in the responses to the call for evidence:

Variability of support – The support offered by councils, political parties, and the
police varied across the country. In particular, respondents identified a lack of
proactive support from some councils and responses from some police forces to
threats made against councillors and their families.
Targeted abuse – Evidence from the qualitative responses indicated that
councillors and candidates with protected characteristics were more likely to receive
personalised abuse. Misogyny, racism and homophobia were particularly
highlighted in the responses.
Personal and democratic impacts – Abuse and intimidation can significantly
impact councillors and their families, and the wider community. Several respondents
described the negative impacts of ongoing abuse on their mental health and
wellbeing. In addition, respondents supported the idea that abuse can impact
councillors’ willingness to stand for re-election or deter others from considering
standing for public office.
Vulnerability of councillors – Many respondents highlighted the visibility and
accessibility of councillors in their local community, particularly when councillors’
home addresses are available online. Councillors are therefore vulnerable to
physical abuse, particularly compared to national politicians who may have greater
protections and access to specialist police support.
Normalisation – There is a growing feeling that abuse and intimidation, particularly
online, are becoming normalised. Attitudes around councillors expecting abuse and
being expected to manage abuse with little support were prevalent in the
responses.

Recommendations
In considering these findings, it is possible to set out some initial recommendations to
improve the environment for current and prospective councillors. These
recommendations range from relatively simple legislative changes to protect

  Print   TopPage 12

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/lgas-call-evidence-quantitative-data


19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 3/31

councillors’ privacy to creating a longer-term culture change which seeks to de-
normalisation of abuse of politicians and other high-profile individuals.

Recommendation 1: Councils and other relevant partners should take greater
responsibility for the safety and wellbeing of councillors and take a proactive
approach to preventing and handling abuse and intimidation against
councillors. This should include addressing the impacts of abuse on
councillors’ mental health and wellbeing and working in partnership with other
agencies and councils to ensure that threats and risks to councillors’ safety,
and that of their families, are taken seriously.
Recommendation 2: The LGA should continue to gather and disseminate
good practice from across the sector, consider what more can be done to
prevent abuse and intimidation of councillors through the Civility in public life
programme, and support councils and councillors when these incidents occur.

Recommendation 3: Police forces should work to improve the consistency of
responses to abuse of and threats made against councillors and take a risk-
based approach that accounts for the specific risks that councillors face, as
they do with other high-risk individuals, such as MPs. This should include
identifying best practice in relation to councillor support and safety and sharing
it across the country.

Recommendation 4: The Government should prioritise legislation to put it
beyond doubt that councillors can withhold their home address from the public
register of pecuniary interests.

Recommendation 5: The LGA should work with political parties, election and
democratic officers, and organisations responsible for guidance to raise
awareness of the options currently available and promote the practice of
keeping home addresses private during the election process and once
elected.

Recommendation 6: Social media companies and internet service providers
should acknowledge the democratic significance of local politicians and
provide better and faster routes for councillors reporting abuse and
misinformation online.

Recommendation 7: The relevant Government department should
convene a working group [https://www.local.gov.uk/debate-not-hate-sign-
our-public-statement] , in partnership with the LGA, to bring together  Print   TopPage 13

https://www.local.gov.uk/debate-not-hate-sign-our-public-statement


19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 4/31

relevant agencies to develop and implement an action plan to address the
issue of abuse of local politicians and their safety.

Introduction

Councillors are at the centre of local democracy. Elected by residents in their
neighbourhood and tasked with making decisions that affect the whole community,
they are as much a part of the community as those they represent and form a vital
and direct link between the council and residents.

It is a key democratic principle which all councillors champion, that local government
should be open and transparent and that decisions made by elected councillors
should be open to scrutiny and challenge. Residents who are unhappy with decisions
made by the council or services that the council provides have every right to object
and have their voices heard. This is a civil liberty that must be maintained and
protected.

However, the growing levels of abuse, intimidation and harassment against elected
politicians are a real threat to representative democracy. Comments and actions that
cross the line from honest and respectful debate to abuse and intimidation are
designed to silence democratic expression, constructive challenge, and free speech.

There is evidence that increasing levels of toxicity of debate and abuse against public
figures are having an impact on our country’s democratic processes at a national and
local level. In 2017, the Committee for Standards in Public Life published a report on
Intimidation in public life
[https://epjdatascience.springeropen.com/articles/10.1140/epjds/s13688-020-
00236-9] in which the Committee suggested that “the scale and intensity of
intimidation is now shaping public life”. Since then, research into abuse toward
parliamentary candidates has supported anecdotal concerns that levels of abuse are
increasing and that women, ethnic minority and LGBTQIA+ politicians receive more
discriminatory abuse related to their personal characteristics [1] [#_ftn1] . During the
general election in 2019, concerns were raised over a number of female MPs who
retired from politics and cited abuse they faced as a key factor in their decision-
making [2] [#_ftn2] .

  Print   TopPage 14

https://epjdatascience.springeropen.com/articles/10.1140/epjds/s13688-020-00236-9


19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 5/31

Beyond abuse that may dissuade prospective politicians from standing for election,
there are significant concerns about the risks to politicians’ personal safety. Although
rare, serious incidents do occur as shown by the murder of Jo Cox MP in 2016 and Sir
David Amess MP in 2021.

The ability to debate and disagree well, as set out in the Committee for Standards in
Public Life 2017 report, is all the more important when there is significant division in
viewpoints and politicians grapple with difficult decisions about how to manage
complex local issues.

Councillors represent and serve their local communities and the majority do so without
being negatively impacted by abuse and intimidation. Recent councillor census data
shows that a large majority of councillors (79 per cent) would recommend being a
councillor to others and 65 per cent intended to stand for re-election; almost a third
said they had never experienced abuse or intimidation linked to their councillor role
and 72 per cent said they had never felt at risk in their role.

Nevertheless, some councillors do experience significant abuse and intimidation and
the intensification of these harmful behaviours are unacceptable and represent a real
risk to democracy at all levels.

Work of the LGA Civility in public life programme
Following the publication of the Committee for Standards in Public Life reports into
Intimidation in public life and Local government ethical standards, the LGA
established the Civility in public life programme. The purpose of the programme is to
address intimidation, standards of public and political discourse and behaviour in
public office and provide support and advice to councils and councillors.

Since 2019, the LGA has developed a Model Councillors Code of Conduct and
supportive guidance such as Digital citizenship guidance, Guidance for handling
intimidation and abuse for councillors and case-studies on council support for
councillors dealing with abuse and personal safety issues and run a series of
evidence on councillor safety (grant-funded by the UK Government). The LGA
launched this Call for evidence of abuse and intimidation of councillors to formally
record the experiences of councillors impacted by abuse and intimidation and develop
a greater understanding of what could be done to improve civility in public life.

Work of the UK Government
In response to the Committee for Standards in Public Life’s reports and national
events, the Government established the Defending Democracy programme, a cross-
Whitehall initiative focusing on four priorities including strengthening the integrity of

  Print   TopPage 15



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 6/31

UK elections, protecting democratic processes and institutions, empowering British
citizens and respecting open debate, and tackling disinformation. Under this
programme, the Government has passed legislation to address intimidation of
electoral candidates and campaigners and introduced legislation to create new
offences related to threatening and harmful online communication and false
information online.

We welcome progress in these areas, however, evidence gathered by the LGA
indicates that greater attention needs to be paid to prevention to stop abuse and
intimidation of elected politicians happening in the first place and reverse the impacts
of an increasingly toxic political environment on current and prospective politicians.

About this report
In October 2021, the LGA launched an open call for evidence of abuse and
intimidation of councillors by the public. The aim of the survey was to capture elected
and prospective councillors’ experiences and concerns about public abuse and
intimidation and what the impacts of abuse are on them, those around them and
democracy more generally. The survey was open to councillors, candidates and
individuals who support candidates and councillors and might have witnessed relevant
abuse. The Call for evidence remains open for submissions to capture experience of
newly elected councillors.

In the first six months of the Call for evidence, 419 responses were received in
relation to principal councils [3] [#_ftn3] and these responses formed the basis of this
analysis and recommendations. This report uses the lived experience of councillors to
fill a data gap around the abuse that councillors receive while fulfilling their elected
role, the impacts of abuse on people in public life and local government, and what
more needs to be done to improve the state of public discourse.

[1] [#_ftnref1] Gorrell et al., Online abuse toward candidates during General
Election 2019: Working Paper [https://arxiv.org/pdf/2001.08686.pdf] , Jan 2020

[2] [#_ftnref2] Gorrell et al, Which politicians receive abuse? Four factors
illuminated in the UK general election 2019
[https://epjdatascience.springeropen.com/articles/10.1140/epjds/s13688-020-
00236-9] , July 2020

[3] [#_ftnref3] A principal council is a local government authority as defined under the
Local Government Act, section 270. Here it is used to mean any council across the
UK which is not a parish and town council or combined authority, i.e. district, county,

  Print   TopPage 16

https://arxiv.org/pdf/2001.08686.pdf
https://epjdatascience.springeropen.com/articles/10.1140/epjds/s13688-020-00236-9


19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 7/31

unitary, London borough, metropolitan etc.

Key facts and figures

The call for evidence of abuse and intimidation
[https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/lgas-call-evidence-quantitative-data] was
an open survey targeted at candidates, councillors and officers who have witnessed
abuse of councillors. Four hundred and nineteen respondents from principal councils
responded to the Call for evidence in the first six months. A summary of the key
statistics from the survey is set out below: 

88 per cent of respondents said they had experienced abuse and/or intimidation,
directed at them personally in relation to their role as a councillor or because they
were a political candidate 

98 per cent of respondents who said they had experienced abuse and/or
intimidation said they had experienced such incidents on multiple occasions 

Most abuse was received via social media, with 73 per cent of respondents with
multiple experiences said they received abuse by social media 

64 per cent of respondents had been abused and/or intimidated in person 

50 per cent of respondents said the abuse was ongoing 

72 per cent of respondents said they had taken actions themselves to avoid
intimidation and/or abuse, or to protect themselves 

60 per cent of respondents said they were aware of others being unwilling to stand
or re-stand for election, or take on leadership roles, due to anticipated abuse. 

42 per cent of respondents said they would be standing for re-election at the next
election. 

27 per cent of respondents said they would not stand for the next election and 31
per cent were undecided, of those respondents 68 per cent said abuse and
intimidation had influenced their position on whether to stand again.  

The 2022 LGA Councillor census
[https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/national-census-local-authority-
councillors-2022] was a time-limited survey directed at all councillors in England

  Print   TopPage 17

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/lgas-call-evidence-quantitative-data
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/national-census-local-authority-councillors-2022


19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 8/31

which took place between January and February 2022. The survey covered a range of
areas including representation, councillor views and councillors’ work. 5055
respondents responded to the survey which is response rate of 30 per cent. A
summary of the key statistics relating to the experiences and impacts of abuse and
intimidation of councillors from the survey is set out below: 

70 per cent of respondents thought that the council had effective arrangements for
dealing with inappropriate behaviour by council officers, 57 per cent by councillors
and 55 per cent by members of the public 

28 per cent of respondents had either frequently or occasionally felt at risk
personally in their role as a councillor, 45 per cent felt at risk rarely and only 26 per
cent never felt at risk 

65 per cent of respondents thought that council arrangements for protecting
councillors personally were either very or fairly effective 

7 in 10 respondents experienced abuse or intimidation in last twelve months; 10 per
cent experienced it frequently, 29 per cent occasionally, 33 per cent rarely. Only 27
per cent had never had any such experiences 

63 per cent of respondents felt that the arrangements in place for protecting
councillors personally were effective 

79 per cent of respondents would recommend the role of councillor to others 

65 per cent of respondents intended to stand for re-election 

Detailed examination of the responses to the call to evidence

According to the recent LGA Councillor census  [#_ftn1] , which gathers key
demographic data and perceptions from serving councillors 10 per cent of councillors
have experienced abuse and intimidation frequently, with a further 29 per cent
experiencing it occasionally. Only 27 per cent said they have never had any such
experiences. To get a clearer understanding of how abuse against councillors usually
presents, what kinds of abuse councillors experience and why people abuse
councillors, councillors and those around them were asked to share their experiences
of abuse and intimidation of councillors by the public.

Experiences of abuse

[1]

  Print   TopPage 18



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 9/31

Respondents were from across the political spectrum, from different council types,
and geographical areas, including submissions from England, Wales, Scotland and
Northern Ireland. 88 per cent of respondents had experienced abuse and/or
intimidation directed against them personally due to their role, with the majority
receiving both; 76 per cent had witnessed abuse and/or intimidation of this nature.
Respondents to the survey were from a range of demographic groups in terms of age,
sex and other protected characteristics; although it was not possible to do further
statistical analysis to look for particularly at prevalent groups in the data due to the
sample size. Together this could suggest that all councillors may be at risk of
experiencing abuse and intimidation during their political career and that some
councillors both experience and witness abuse. However, there is evidence from the
qualitative responses to the survey that councillors with protected characteristics are
more likely to experience personal attacks and abuse. Later in the report we will
consider in more depth whether some councillors are targeted with different kinds of
abuse.

The abuse described by respondents was multi-faceted and took place in both the
online and in-person spaces. Death threats, abusive and discriminatory language,
character assassination and intimidatory behaviour, such as encroaching on personal
spaces, were common forms of abuse. Destruction of property, physical assault and
serious ongoing harassment like stalking or sexual harassment were reported, but
these forms of abuse were rarer and more likely to result in some form of police
involvement.

Overall, when the reports of abuse were grouped as either offline abuse (in-person or
via telephone or post) or online abuse (social media, virtual meetings, or other online
communication) they were equal, showing that online abuse happens just as much as
offline abuse. However, 73 per cent of respondents said that multiple incidents of
abuse they experienced took place on social media, making it the most common place
for abuse to occur. Respondents were much more likely to report that abuse had
occurred on multiple occasions and involved multiple perpetrators, than multiple
incidents by one person or a single incident. This was particularly the case with online
communication and on social media, referred to as “the Wild West” by one
respondent.

Respondents felt that the increased use of unregulated social media platforms had
increased the likelihood of abuse and hurtful comments. Respondents mentioned
‘pile-on’ abuse which is when a number of different individuals sending harassing
communication to one victim in a public (social media platform) or semi-public space
(messaging service like WhatsApp). Significant amounts of abuse can accumulate
very quickly in this way through individual posts, which can be difficult to remove from  Print   TopPage 19



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 10/31

the platform but nevertheless have a cumulative harmful effect. The immediacy and
24-hour nature of social media and the reach into personal spaces was also cited as
an area of concern, with councillors feeling targeted within their own homes and
unable to disengage from abuse being directed at them online. Respondents also
suggested that the anonymity of social media emboldened perpetrators to be more
extreme on social media and allowed them to set up multiple accounts for the purpose
of abusing or ‘Trolling’ others with impunity.

Whilst the Government’s Online Safety Bill may help to address some forms of serious
harmful online communication by introducing new communication offences and by
introducing a duty to protect adults from harmful content, most online abuse would
probably not meet the threshold for criminal prosecution or might fall below the scope
of what content should be removed under this duty. We therefore have concerns that
these provisions will not have the intended impact and more is needed to address
non-criminal but nonetheless harmful online abuse and misinformation.

Councillors have many in-person interactions with residents. Respondents report that
single incidents were more likely to happen in person than online and even single
incidents had a significant impact on victims. Respondents repeatedly highlighted how
visible and locally accessible councillors are to the public, particularly compared to
national politicians. In their formal role, councillors attend clearly advertised council
events like council meetings and make decisions about highly emotive local issues
like planning, licensing and service provision that affect a lot of residents. Council
meetings are rightly open to the public, but there is generally little or no security or
police presence to handle incidents when they occur. This is often down to the level of
resource available, and some respondents indicated that even when the police
accepted there were heightened risks at certain council meetings, they often could not
guarantee police support due to resourcing issues. As a consequence, some reported
council meetings being adjourned or postponed due to safety concerns.

By comparison members of parliament conduct their official parliamentary role in the
highly secure Houses of Parliament and often have formal offices and staff to support
their local role and surgeries in their constituency. Members of parliament have a high
local and national profile, representing thousands of constituents and are at significant
risk of abuse and serious threats. It is therefore right that they have the appropriate
facilities and protection to keep them safe as they fulfil their elected role. However,
councillors, particularly those with special responsibilities, make decisions affecting
hundreds of thousands of people and may experience similar levels of abuse and
threats as MPs. Councillors should therefore receive support appropriate to the level
of risk associated with their role and their particular situation, just as MPs do.

  Print   TopPage 20



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 11/31

Councillors also engage less formally with their local community by holding ward
surgeries, door-knocking and visiting residents in their homes. Advice from political
parties and the LGA is that these activities are not carried out alone, but responses
from the survey indicated that many had done so before an incident occurred, and
many rely on volunteers to support these activities. Respondents highlighted that in-
person abuse takes place in both formal and informal settings and includes verbal
abuse such as threats and discriminatory language and other physical abuse
amounting to criminal incidents. Spitting was a common and upsetting form of
physical abuse, but respondents also reported more serious physical assaults.

Threats were a consistent theme throughout the responses and ranged from threats
to smear a councillor’s reputation to threats to the physical person, family or property
of the councillor. These threats were seen to be more serious due to the public
availability of councillors’ personal information, such as home addresses on council
websites, making councillors more vulnerable to serious incidents and high-profile
incidents over the past few years.

“I have been abused on the street and threatened by being told, I know where
you live…and I’ve been told to watch my back.” Anonymous respondent

In addition, some felt this accessibility of information increased the risks of threats
being made online translating into real violence. One respondent gave an example of
a death threat being made online where multiple individuals suggested councillors
should be shot, one social media user posted that they would be willing to ‘pull the
trigger, just tell me where they live’, while another signposted to councillors’ home
addresses on the council website. In another case, threats were implied by leaving a
live bullet on the doorstep of a councillor’s house. This is a rare example, however,
many respondents had less extreme examples of online communications leading to
real world threats, such as multiple ‘poison pen’ letters being delivered to councillors
homes and orchestrated demonstrations outside a councillors home.

Normalisation
Respondents who said they had experienced multiple incidents were asked to
describe how often they received abuse from more than once a day through to less
than once a month. The responses indicated that a high frequency of abuse was
common. For example, one in ten respondents said they experienced abuse due to
their role once a day or more than once a day and 36 per cent of those who
experienced multiple incidents of abuse, said they experienced abuse once a week or
more frequently. Almost half the respondents who experienced multiple incidents said
the abuse was ongoing and many described it as constant. A third said the abuse was
not ongoing and some said described abuse not as regular but as directly linked to  Print   TopPage 21



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 12/31

“

specific engagement activities, such as posting online. Nevertheless, there was a
clear theme that a certain level of abuse and intimidation is a feature of political life
which is both expected and accepted by councillors and those around them.

Normalisation of abusive behaviour towards councillors was also evident in the
qualitative responses councillors gave to the call for evidence. Some respondents
said that although they were initially shocked by the prevalence and level of abuse
when they were elected, the accepting attitude of their councillor colleagues, council
staff and political officers quickly led to a shift in their expectations and norms.
Consequently, respondents expressed a perception that councillors ought to be able
to manage the majority of abuse themselves and that when they struggled to cope,
they were concerned people would judge them or say they were not cut out for
politics. This might partly explain why 37 per cent of respondent did not seek support
in relation to their experiences. A few challenged this perception, recognising that
councillors should not have to suffer personal attacks to represent their communities.

All organisations could take it more seriously; being

robust enough to handle personal attacks should not

be a pre-requisite for public office. Anonymous respondent

In relation to council staff or political officers, responses showed this normalisation
playing out in two distinct and opposing ways. One approach accepted that abuse of
councillors by the public is expected and normalised such that very little individual
support was offered; abuse is so every day and constant that trying to address it
would be a huge and never-ending effort without much benefit. The second approach
to increased abuse by the public was for councils to put in place varying levels of
support for councillors including specific training, guidance, support, and policies to
deal with abuse from the public and bespoke risk assessments of councillors’
personal safety. There is a similar divergence of experience in relation to police
response to abuse and intimidation of councillors. In some cases, normalisation of
abuse of elected members has led to some poor practices where genuinely criminal or
threatening behaviour has not been investigated or addressed because of the victim’s
role as a councillor.

“I think there is an element of not being believed, that you are exaggerating,
that you have to put up with it, and that if you do not like it, you can change
your role and give to someone else.” Anonymous respondent

  Print   TopPage 22



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 13/31

Normalisation of abuse by councillors themselves may also have led to some
councillors not reporting serious abuse or threats when they occurred. Some
respondents were clearly self-categorising abuse as tolerable or serious enough to
report to the police, with little in between. In addition, some councillors said that their
more experienced councillor colleagues seemed more resilient to abuse and
described being told they would get used to abuse after a while. In some cases, this
high tolerance had led to councillors not reporting serious incidents, which the police
later advised were criminal, should have been reported, and may have put the
councillor at risk of harm.

The idea that councillors and other people in high profile public roles should expect
and grow used to abuse, that they learn to cope with threats and intimidation, and that
there is little to be done to curb abuse is a pervasive narrative at local and national
levels. In the aftermath of the murder of Sir David Amess MP, the Government rightly
reviewed arrangements for MP’s security to assess the provision available and bring
consistency across different areas of the country. The LGA welcomed this
prioritisation of elected members security, however, the Government chose not to
widen the scope of the review to include councillors and other local politicians, despite
repeated calls from them to do so. In addition, all police forces were instructed to
make direct contact with MPs in their area to discuss their safety and provide advice
and support. By comparison councils coordinated support for councillors locally; police
input relied on existing relationships rather than a national directive and therefore
varied across different areas.

Finally, councillors are leaders of their local community and often act as role models
for future leaders; most are striving in good faith to exemplify high levels of discourse
and respect debate. However, some respondents commented that rising level of
general abuse and disrespectful debate at the national level was coarsening debate in
the council chamber. Others said they felt abuse from fellow councillors and political
party members was on the rise, despite there being common and well understood
standards of behaviour and conduct based on the Nolan principles and principles of
respect.

Large scale reviews of standards in local government, such as the Committee for
Standards in Public Life 2019 report, have found little evidence of a widespread
standards problem. However, there was evidence of misconduct by some councillors
related to bullying and harassment. The LGA is committed to maintaining high
standards of conduct and creating a consistency of approach by councils when
dealing with councillor standards and behaviour. In 2020, the LGA developed a Model

  Print   TopPage 23



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 14/31

Councillor Code of Conduct in consultation with the sector to set out a common
standard of behaviour and support councillors to role model positive behaviours, and
respectful conduct.

The normalisation of abuse and intimidation of people in public life has had a negative
impact for many, including councillors. If this normalisation of abuse is symptomatic of
a wider toxification of society and public discourse, further consideration will need to
be given to solutions that will address this within the sphere of local government and
in wider society.

Targeted abuse towards councillors with protected characteristics
Targeted abuse towards councillors with protected characteristics was a recurring
theme in the responses to the call for evidence, whether through first-hand experience
or as a witness. The qualitative evidence from the survey indicated that councillors
with protected characteristics may experience more personal attacks, compared to
others who experience more general abuse.

Some respondents suggested that councillors with protected characteristics were
more likely to experience more extreme and a higher volume of abuse; due to the
number of responses and style of the survey it has not been possible to confirm this
claim through statistical analysis of these results. However, this would follow trends
seen at national levels. For example, in a 2020 study looking at ‘Which politicians
receive abuse?’ in the run up to the 2019 UK general election, Gorrell et al. found that
women received more sexist abuse, whereas men received more general and political
abuse.

Misogyny, racism and homophobia were all mentioned by respondents, although
misogyny and reference to women’s personal characteristics or making threats
designed to specifically impact women were particularly common.

“Initially when I became a councillor, I was told by a colleague that I should
never hold a surgery alone as I was at risk… I was told that with me being
disabled, I would be the target of negative treatment by people.” Anonymous
female respondent

Many councils, political parties and organisations, like the LGA, are working hard to
increase the diversity of representation in local government and this requires a greater
variety of candidates to stand at local election. So, it’s important to note here that
many respondents directly linked abuse associated with personal characteristics with

  Print   TopPage 24



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 15/31

reluctance to stand for election or re-election; some described women choosing to
take on back-office roles in the local party rather than run for office because of
concerns about what abuse they would face.

Some argue that this kind of targeted abuse is symptomatic of wider inequality and
discrimination in society and the solution in the long run is to tackle the root cause.
Personal and discriminatory abuse of candidates and councillors with protected
characteristics undoubtedly hampers efforts to improve local representation and if it
continues may negative impact the limited diversity we currently have in local
government. So, in the meantime, actions to address those symptoms and reduce the
excessive amount and severity of abuse women and other people with protected
characteristics receive could help reverse the trend of underrepresentation of these
groups in local and national politics.

Triggers of abuse
To better understand the reasons why perpetrators direct abuse at councillors,
respondents were asked to comment on whether they felt there were triggers that
acted as catalysts of abuse and what those triggers might be. This covered specific to
non-specific events and processes and picked up where abuse was not triggered but
appeared to be generalised.

59 per cent of respondents believed the abuse was triggered by specific events.
Others were not sure or felt there was not specific trigger event except being in public
life. These triggers can broadly be categorised into abuse related to decisions of the
council, abuse linked to political party or individual political stances, abuse aggravated
by other factors, like perceived poor performance of the council or a misunderstanding
of the role of councils and councillors, and abuse linked to the councillor’s role in
public life. Abuse, triggered by a specific event or otherwise, could also be aggravated
by certain myths and perceptions about councillors.

The most common and easy to identify trigger was contentious council decisions;
respondents highlighted abuse related to unsuccessful planning and licensing
applications and objections to general planning and parking decisions as common
triggers. Planning and licensing are an integral part of council business and can be
very emotive issues as these decisions can have an impact on individuals and the
whole community. Councillors appointed to committees dealing with these issues will
generally receive training on the technicalities of planning and licensing and making
these decisions before they take up the role. However, there is no strengthened level
of support for councillors sitting on these committees, or training for planning staff who
support councillors, to help them deal with abuse linked to the types of decisions they
make.   Print   TopPage 25



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 16/31

Another trigger for abuse was wider council policy on topical issues and in some
cases, these were associated with certain types of councils, for example Low Traffic
Neighbourhood issues [https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/stakeholder-
engagement-emergency-lessons-low-traffic-neighbourhoods] were clearly
associated with urban rather than rural councils. However, there were many triggers,
like Covid-19 vaccinations and climate change, that traversed geography across all
types of councils.

Here it is useful to examine the different kinds of behaviours respondents said
residents displayed and clarify the distinction between appropriate objections to
council decisions and policy or complaint about council services. Respondents
reported a range of behaviours from continuous and repeated complaints and
objections to personalised verbal abuse and intimidatory comments and physical
aggression intended to inappropriately influence individual councillors and local
decision-making. Residents have a right to object to policies they are unhappy with;
these civil liberties are a vital democratic principle and must be maintained. Further to
this, the LGA actively encourages residents to engage with their local council and the
decisions that affect their communities. However, actions that amount to harassment
and devolve into personal attacks or are intended to intimidate a councillor into
changing their position or actions are not acceptable and this is happening far too
often.

Campaigning and canvassing in the community were also highlighted as high-risk
activities by respondents. One respondent labelled door-knocking as “particularly
harrowing”, with some councillors saying they had concerns about their own safety
and wellbeing, as well as their volunteers while campaigning. Many respondents
stated that this abuse was connected to the policy positions of their political party or
their own views on particularly divisive issues, such as leaving the European Union.
Respondents described how disagreement and opposing views were then reflected in
the form of aggression, threats, and personal abuse. Some commented that this has
become steadily worse in recent years and that personalised abuse between national
and local politicians had set a precedent that has filtered down into conversations with
members of the public.

Responses to the questionnaire indicate that it is sometimes possible to anticipate
what events or activities might trigger abuse and aggression towards councillors.
Consequently, it may be possible to put in place measures to prevent abuse from
taking place or mitigate the impacts of abuse. Council officers often work with their
councillors ahead of contentious or high-profile decisions to ensure that they are
handled sensitively and that councillors know how to respond to online abuse. For
example, councils can remove the option for comments on social media posts for a  Print   TopPage 26

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/stakeholder-engagement-emergency-lessons-low-traffic-neighbourhoods


19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 17/31

“

set period of time and advise councillors to do the same. Allowing time before opening
up for comments can reduce ‘knee-jerk’ reactions and allow time for consideration,
while still allowing people to have their say at a later point.

Aggravating factors
There was a clear theme running through the qualitative responses about factors that
served to aggravate and intensify abuse. These were chiefly based on preconceptions
about the role and powers of the councillors, levels of council performance and the
public’s right to abuse people in public office.

Respondents commented that it was common for abuse to be rooted in a
misunderstanding of the role of the council and councillors, particularly where councils
are required to implement government policy. Confusion about responsibility and
functions of different levels of government was compounded by residents’ incorrect
assumption that councillors have the power to immediately influence national policy
and change local policy independently of the rest of the council. Respondents also
commented that councillors are more accessible and available to residents than
members of parliament and therefore were often the first port of call for disgruntled
residents.

“Council is always seen as the bearer of bad news whilst MP’s who are often
responsible for setting the policy are deemed as a hero.” Anonymous respondent

Change, reduction or closing of local discretionary services was a common theme in
responses, this was linked to these services being vulnerable to reduction in central
funding from Government and often being highly visible physical infrastructure in the
community, such as library services. Respondents commented that it was sometimes
difficult to control the narratives around service changes and even positive changes,
such as transferring library services to local community groups, was sometimes seen
as an abdication of responsibility.

21 per cent of respondents felt that the abuse they experienced was not triggered by a
specific event. Many of those felt that abuse was related solely to being a figure in
public life and that abusing politicians was seen as fair game.

The problem is that abuse often starts as low level…

This creates a sense that local councillors are easy

game for abuse. Anonymous respondent

  Print   TopPage 27



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 18/31

They particularly highlighted running for election, being elected and taking on
additional responsibilities as points where abuse started or intensified. This is
supported by the fact that 72 per cent of respondents said they had additional
responsibilities as a councillor. A further 19 per cent of respondents were not sure
whether abuse was related to specific events or not and some said it was a
combination of ongoing abuse and events that exacerbated abuse, such as engaging
with resident online or at ward surgeries.

Councils and political parties have a role in supporting candidates and councillors
representing them. The evidence suggests abuse is becoming more common,
consistent and normalised in the eyes of the public, councillors and public
organisations; one in five respondents to the survey said the abuse or intimidation
was ongoing. To ensure this trend does not continue, organisations that support
councillors should be proactive in handling serious abuse and referring incidents to
the police where necessary, as well as actively supporting councillors to handle abuse
that falls below the criminal level.

Personal impacts of abuse and intimidation of councillors
A critical part of the call for evidence asked respondents to share what the impacts of
abuse and intimidation had been on them and other councillors. Evidence from these
responses shows that abuse and intimidation of councillors has a significant impact on
individual councillors and those around them.

Three broad categories of impacts emerged; impacts on the individual, impacts on the
individual’s family and friends, and impacts on local democracy and the community.
These categories were influenced by how public the abuse was, who the councillor
shared their experiences with and how the abuse influenced the councillors’ choices.

Many respondents described how their experiences of abuse had negatively impacted
their mental health and their ability to function in their councillor or other professional
and personal roles. Depression and anxiety were commonly reported and some even
reported being suicidal due to the levels of abuse. Some had to seek medical advice
to deal with the physiological impacts of stress, and in extreme cases respondents
described being so scared of verbal and physical abuse that they stopped going out or
would only leave the house if accompanied by someone else.

Due to the public or threatening nature of the abuse, many respondents were
concerned for their loved ones. These concerns ranged from family members being
distressed by the amount of public abuse directed towards the councillor to fears for
their safety or the safety of the family home.

  Print   TopPage 28



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 19/31

“

“[Threats have] made me more aware of both mine and others safety and [the]
importance of protecting myself and my family home…we all have to be
careful.” Anonymous respondent

Respondents commented that in small communities it is very easy to identify a
councillor’s family members and friends and sometimes they encounter abuse
because of this association. These included grandchildren being bullied by other
children at school, family members being ostracised from community spaces, and
family businesses losing custom. Family members also worried about the councillor’s
safety and asked them not to stand for election again.

My stress affects my family and I fear that they will be

tainted too by the accusations levelled at

me. Anonymous respondent

Democratic impacts of abuse and intimidation of councillors
To understand the full implications of abuse and intimidation of councillors, it is
important consider impacts beyond the immediate and personal to the knock-on
impacts on democracy and local representation.

Respondents were asked to indicate whether they would stand for election again and
42 per cent said they would stand again and 27 per cent were not decided. 43 per
cent of respondents went on to answer a question about whether the possibility of
abuse and intimidation had influenced their position on whether to stand again and
over two-thirds said it had.

Many respondents added their comments saying that the impact of abuse and
intimidation on them personally and their family had directly influenced their decision
on whether to stand at the next local election. Some described the lack of structural
support for councillors or way to challenge poor behaviour as a contributing factor.

“I could not run in another election …I would not want to put my family through
the stress and anxiety…

  Print   TopPage 29



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 20/31

“ Unfortunately in politics it is perceived by some that

councillor are ‘fair game’ and should have a thick skin.

Even a thick skin can be penetrated. Anonymous respondent

Further to this, respondents said that some councillors were resigning before their
term had finished and potential candidates were being discouraged from running for
election by the levels of abuse. 60 per cent of respondents said they knew others who
were unwilling to run for election or take on leadership roles due to anticipated abuse.
Elections are naturally highly stressful, but some respondents said that the line
between political competition and personal attacks had been crossed.  

On the other hand, a few respondents said they found that abuse had spurred them
on to “fight harder”, particularly when the abuse related to personal characteristics
rather than objections to their policies or decisions. In general, these cases should be
taken as the exception not the rule and certainly not an expectation of the majority of
councillors. It is therefore still vital that abuse against councillors it treated seriously,
and that councils and police challenge the normalisation of this kind of abuse.

Support from relevant agencies and self-protection
As part of the call for evidence respondents described whether and how they sought
support for abuse and how relevant agencies, such as the police, council officers and
political parties, responded when they ask for help or reported an incident. This
helped clarify the range of opinions, approaches and responses that councillors
experience when they seek support to handle abuse and intimidation and in particular
brought out the variety of provision at different councils.

63 per cent of respondents sought support in relation to the abuse they experienced,
and many received support from multiple sources. However, out of those who sought
support almost a third sought informal support from councillor peers, friends and
family and by employing a barrister or solicitor to give legal advice. Respondents were
most likely to seek support from their peers but many went to multiple agencies, such
as their own political party, council officers or the police over the abuse they
experienced. Some looked for support from other sources, including national
organisations like the LGA, the Suzy Lamplugh Trust, the Local Government
Ombudsman, and social media companies. Some also described handling these
issues alone and managing their own personal safety.

  Print   TopPage 30



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 21/31

When asked how helpful different types of support were, respondents said that
support from friends and family was by far the most helpful, followed by peer support.
This is particularly challenging finding as friends and family are likely to be the least
well equipped to provide effective solutions to public abuse, apart from compassion
and empathy. The police and the council were similarly ranked but respondents said
they were not as helpful as family and peers. Support from political parties was ranked
lowest out of all the options.

There were significant inconsistencies in the level and efficacy of responses to abuse
of councillors from relevant agencies. Councillors themselves take a mixture of
different approaches to dealing with these issues and responses from relevant
agencies were equally mixed. In some cases, respondents reported an excellent
experience, with prompt and effective action for those involved.

“Officer and member colleagues were very helpful and supportive. The police
were fantastic – took a statement, gave me advice and helped me enhance
security at my home, put me on an emergency call list.” Anonymous respondent

However, this was not universally the case and a common theme from respondents
was a lack of coordination and partnership working between the council and political
parties. Some councillors felt they were falling through the gaps between different
agencies, with no one taking responsibility for councillor safety and wellbeing.

“Both officers listened and offered me moral support. However, neither have
been able to stop the residents’ abuse. The council would not take legal action
on my behalf against the worst abuser and advised me against taking a
personal case against the individual. The police have seemed powerless to help
me. My party haven’t really been of any help… Some members of my family
have given me lots of moral support.” Anonymous respondent

In general, councillors sought support from their council in relation to misinformation
online, abusive communications and physical safety or to request that their personal
information, such as home addresses, be removed from the public domain. The
response from councils was variable with no one set way of doing things. Some
councils focused on equipping councillors to handle abuse and intimidation
themselves with training and guidance, while others took a more involved approach,
treating councillors similarly to employees and offering lone worker equipment and
24/7 support. Some councils had developed a successful collaborative approach
working with political parties and the police to offer support and triage risk to
councillors and offering bespoke risk assessments for ward surgery venues and
private homes.

  Print   TopPage 31



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 22/31

“This [incident] happened over a weekend, the chief executive rang me, in fact
my phone never stopped ringing, messages of support from the police and
senior officers… I felt truly supported by county staff and councillor
colleagues.” Anonymous respondent

Support for councillors needs to be flexible to the specific situation and context,
therefore it is expected that this offer will look different in different places. However,
respondents also shared examples where they received little or no support at all and
in particular, highlighted the lack of pastoral care available to councillors. It is
becoming more common for political parties to actively record and deal with abuse
against their members and some councils now allow their councillor to access staff
wellbeing and counselling offers. However, many respondents said that council
officers told them to ignore abuse and were apathetic towards addressing these
incidents, particularly when they took place online.

There was a similar theme around the police classifying abuse against councillors as
political or free speech and refusing to get involved as they would with other citizens.
Threats against councillors’ safety was generally, although not consistently, treated
seriously by the police with some form of action being taken. However, this did not
always result in a cessation of the threats and abuse or a warning or prosecution and
so perpetrators continue with impunity.

A consistent theme from respondent’s experiences was that the police often do not
consider online abuse as their responsibility and believe that councillors who willingly
stand for office should “expect to receive more abuse than a member of the public”.
Due to this perception, respondents described not being taken seriously by the police,
struggling to get their complaint investigated and consequently no action being taken
against the perpetrators. Councillors do expect more abuse than members of the
general public and often have very high tolerances for abuse, however, this does not
mean abuse should be treated as acceptable or that councillors should not expect
police to investigate crimes committed against them. In time, new offences in the
Online Safety Bill may improve the police and prosecution response. The bar for
criminal sanction has rightly been set very high to ensure legitimate free speech is
protected, nevertheless the new offences may act as a deterrent to perpetrators and
encourage police to investigate reports of online harm or misinformation more
thoroughly.

37 per cent of respondents did not seek support for the abuse they experienced.
Some respondents said this was due to the abuse being a “one-off” event or the
abuse being at a tolerable level, such that seeking formal support felt

  Print   TopPage 32



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 23/31
“

disproportionate. This description adds to the argument that abuse against politicians
has become normalised; while abuse may be tolerated, it is still not acceptable.

However, there were some more extreme examples of abuse, intimidation and threats
where respondents still did not seek formal support. This was mainly due to a
perception that the onus was on them as the victim to protect themselves from abuse
and poor behaviour and that there are few or no structural mechanisms in place to
protect them from abuse. This feeling was summarised well by a response who said
that councillors are “very much left to provide their own security.”

Further to this, some said they had little faith that the council could help them deal
with the abuse affecting them. This is borne out to an extent by the 2022 councillor
census data, where 45 per cent of councillors did not feel that their council had
effective arrangements in place to deal with inappropriate behaviour by the public or
didn’t know what those arrangements were and 37 per cent did not feel that the
arrangements their council had in place to protect them personally were effective.

Finally, some councillors commented that some perpetrators were known to have
mental health problems and were known to council services and the police.
Respondents mentioned that social care teams could be helpful in risk assessing and
facilitating interactions between councillors and residents with additional needs to
ensure those residents are able to access their elected representative. However,
respondents also expressed frustrations that action was often not taken against some
perpetrators because of their mental health problems. While a person’s mental state
may influence their behaviour, this does not lessen the impact abuse has on the victim
or threats made by people with mental health problems should be taken as seriously
as any other threat.

Councillor safety
Abuse and intimidation form part of a spectrum of abuse which can include very
serious assaults and evidence suggests abuse is to be shifting towards the more
extreme end of this spectrum. In the recent councillor census less than a third of
respondents said that they had never felt at personal risk when fulfilling their role as
councillor. Respondents to the call for evidence commented that it felt like abuse was
getting worse and risks of running for office were increasing.

Local politics is a far more dangerous place now that it

ever was in the past. Anonymous respondent

  Print   TopPage 33



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 24/31

72 per cent of respondents to the survey had taken some action to avoid intimidation
and abuse. These actions were usually around moderating or managing planned and
unplanned engagement with the public, specifically using the options on social media
to block abusive accounts, holding wards surgeries in public buildings, never working
alone, and installing home security equipment. Some respondents commented that
their approach had been to disengage from social media entirely and move to holding
appointment only surgeries or “walking surgeries” held outside.

Over the last few years, high profile incidents like the murder of Jo Cox MP and Sir
David Amess MP outside their respective ward surgeries have highlighted the
vulnerability of elected politicians to serious assaults. This has rightly reignited
concerns about the safety of councillors, mayors and police and crime commissioner
and some historic practices that could put them at additional risk, such as the
publication of politicians’ home addresses.

As mentioned earlier, there was a centrally coordinated programme of support for
MPs following the death of Sir David Amess MP. This was a high-risk period for MPs
and there were real concerns for their safety; a direct police response was a
reasonable expectation from MPs. However, there was no expectation from central
government that police would contact councillors in the same way. Instead, councils
worked with their local police forces to reinforce their approaches to councillor safety.
This was light touch in some cases, updating and reissuing councillor safety guidance
or rerunning training designed to help councillors keep themselves safe. However,
others recognised that councillors cannot control everything around them and that
other agencies have a clear role in enhancing personal safety councillors are as safe
as possible while going about their day-to-day council business.

Leeds City Council, for example, took the step of risk assessing all venues that
councillors use as ward surgeries whether or not they were council-owned and
worked with the councillors and venue providers to mitigate any risks identified. Many
councils now provide personal alarms or systems for councillors to use when they are
out in the community, in a person’s home and at their ward surgeries. These alarms
vary in functionality, but usually they can provide a way to alert council officers to an
incident taking place. Officers can then respond appropriately, starting with a welfare
check and escalating to calling the police to attend the councillor’s location if
necessary. Some alarm systems can also audio-record what is going on for evidence
or have a mechanism to allow the councillor to silently alert the police that they need
help.

  Print   TopPage 34



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 25/31

In the past councils have routinely displayed councillor home addresses on their
websites and until March 2019 councillors were required to publicly declare their
home address on the ballot paper when they ran for election. Election practice has
changed in line with recommendations made by the Committee for Standards in
Public life 2017 and 2019 reports into Intimidation in public life
[https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/intimidation-in-public-life-a-
review-by-the-committee-on-standards-in-public-life] and Local government
ethical standards [https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-
government-ethical-standards-report] that making councillors’ home addresses
public was unnecessary and put them at risk of incidents in their home. Evidence from
respondents suggests that just the idea of having to publish a home address can also
put people off standing for election and this is out of step with the way we treat
personal data in every other sphere of life.

The practice of putting councillor addresses on council websites has reduced as
councillors’ attitudes have changed. However, councillors may still be required to
publicise their home addresses as part of declaring their pecuniary interests on the
public register of interests. Councillors may apply for a dispensation from their
monitoring officer if they feel disclosing their address would put them or a member of
their household at risk of violence. However, the monitoring officer has the discretion
to decide whether this test has been met and this has led to inconsistent approaches
in different councils. Some monitoring officers have taken the proactive view that all
councillors are at risk of violence due to their public role and allow all councillors a
dispensation, while others require a specific reason or incident to occur before they
will remove an address. Effectively this means that someone could run for election
without declaring their address and within 21 days of being elected be required to put
it on a public document. Clarity that dispensation may be applied without a specific
incident taking place would help create consistency of approach across different
councils and reassure prospective councillors that they will have this protection if they
are elected. In the view of the LGA, legislative change is required to put this beyond
doubt.

Changes to allow councillors to withhold their home addresses from the public register
of interests would be in line with changes rules on publishing home addresses for
candidates running in elections. Prior to 2018, candidates in local elections were
required to declare their home address on the ballot paper; now candidates may
choose to opt out of sharing their address. Some councillors still choose to declare
their home address. However, feedback from members and safety experts is
increasingly moving towards the idea that candidates and councillors’ personal
information should be protected and that they should have to opt-in to sharing
information like homes addresses as is the case with private citizens.  Print   TopPage 35

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/intimidation-in-public-life-a-review-by-the-committee-on-standards-in-public-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report


19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 26/31

In recognition of the concerns in the sector and the real risk to councillors, the LGA
ran three ‘Personal safety for councillors’ events for over 500 attendees between
December 2021 and March 2022, updated the Councillor guide to handling
intimidation, and produced case studies outlining how councils can support councillors
with their safety and wellbeing.

Beyond the role of councils, political parties and individual councillors to manage
councillor safety, there is a wider issue about how violence and threats against
councillors are dealt with by the police. Earlier we mentioned some examples of
councillors having excellent experiences where the council and the police worked
together to mitigate risks to councillor safety. However, the overwhelming feedback
was that concerns raised by councillors were not taken seriously enough or were
outright dismissed by police as part and parcel of political life.

Councillors have the same legal rights and protections as any other member of the
public and some would argue councillors have an enhanced risk profile when it comes
to physical abuse which should be considered when they report abuse, threat and
intimidation. Despite this, some believe that the bar for police to investigate and act
when a crime is reported appears to have been set higher for councillors.

This should be considered in relation to other elected politicians, such as members of
parliament. Members of parliament have a dedicated team based in the Metropolitan
Police called the Parliamentary Liaison and Investigations Team to handle crime on
the parliamentary estate in Westminster and liaise with Single Points of Contact
(SPoC) in local constabularies to deal with crime and security of members of
parliament in their home constituencies. This can include doing specialist risk
assessments of MPs homes and offices and handling improved security measures like
the installation of better locks and lighting and digital doorbells or CCTV.

By comparison there is no single team or functionality in police forces that are
equipped with the specialist knowledge required to triage and handle crimes
committed against local politicians because of their role as an elected official. In
addition, although informal relationships may exist between councils and police in
relation to councillor safety this does not always translate into a coordinated approach
to addressing crimes against councillors. For example, some police forces will not
accept a report of a crime from the council on the councillor’s behalf but insist on a
report from the councillor as a citizen. This risks taking the complaint out of context
and can lead to an incorrect assessment of the associated risks to the complainant.
On the other hand, some councils have proactively established partnerships and
collaborative forums to ensure there are strong links between local emergency
services in case of incidents or emergencies. One council, for example, holds regular

  Print   TopPage 36



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 27/31

collaborative meetings with the Neighbourhood Safety Team, local police, local fire
and rescue service and Police Community Support Team where they share latest
intelligence and resources and complete a joint risk assessment for an individual
councillor’s activities. This can help prevent incidents taking place, but can also
support councillors if an incident does occur.

Councils and police services have a duty to work together to formulate and implement
strategies to tackle local crime and disorder under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.
This is usually facilitated through a Community Safety Partnership. So, relationships
should already exist that could help to manage crime against councillors. However,
this does not always seem to be working. One respondent shared that the only reason
their complaint was dealt with was because they mentioned it in passing to the police
and crime commissioner and chief constable of the local police force.

Actions to abuse or intimidate councillors stifle democracy and the voice of elected
leaders and threats to councillors’ personal safety is a crime. We recognise that there
is significant pressure on the police and the Crown Prosecution Service and that it is
not always appropriate to pursue prosecution for all crime. However, as with MPs,
councillors should expect to have their complaints are taken seriously, and for police
to use all available and appropriate tools at their disposal against perpetrators.

[1] [#_ftnref1]  LGA 2022 Councillor census data
[https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/national-census-local-authority-
councillors-2022]

Summary and recommendations

The call for evidence has revealed an ongoing issue with abuse and intimidation of
councillors and concerns about the safety of local politicians that are having an impact
on councillors and local democracy more widely. It is important that we address these
issues to ensure that they do not have a detrimental impact on councillors, councils
and local democracy in the future.

There are clear gaps and inconsistencies in the support and response mechanisms
available to councillors to deal with these issues, including council support, support
from political parties and preventative support from local police. There is also
evidence of a normalisation and acceptance of abuse of councillors that should be
challenged. However, there is some evidence of good practice around risk assessing

  Print   TopPage 37

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/national-census-local-authority-councillors-2022


19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 28/31

ward surgery venues and home locations for councillors, building partnerships with
local police, wellbeing support and having clear policies for dealing with
communications from abusive residents.

Recommendation 1: Councils and other relevant partners should take
greater responsibility for the safety and wellbeing of councillors and take
a proactive approach to preventing and handling abuse and intimidation
against councillors. This should include addressing the impacts of
abuse on councillors’ mental health and wellbeing and working in
partnership with other agencies and councils to ensure that threats and
risks to councillors’ safety, and that of their families, are taken seriously.

Recommendation 2: The LGA should continue to gather and disseminate
good practice from across the sector, consider what more can be done
to prevent abuse and intimidation of councillors through the Civility in
public life programme, and support councils and councillors when these
incidents occur.

There is evidence of inconsistency in the response of the police to incidents of abuse,
intimidation and aggression towards councillors and a normalisation of unacceptable
conduct against politicians. There is also a perception that in some cases the
threshold for intervention has been set higher for councillors than other members of
the public. However, there were examples of good practices by police who took a
proactive and coordinated approach to councillor harassment and safety. This worked
best when police took a risk-based approach, took the public nature of the councillor
role into account, and used all the powers at their disposal to disrupt abusive
behaviour before it became more serious.

Police could consider replicating successful approaches taken with MPs or candidates
during elections and providing a specialist Single Point of Contact for councillors in the
local police force. Another approach would be having a Safety Liaison Officer as is
provided for journalists across many forces in England; SLOs oversee cases related
to crime against journalists and intervene only when necessary.

  Print   TopPage 38



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 29/31

Recommendation 3: Police forces should work to improve the
consistency of responses to abuse of and threats made against
councillors and take a risk-based approach that factors in the specific
risks that councillors face, as they do with other high-risk individuals,
such as MPs. This should include identifying best practice in relation to
councillor support and safety and sharing it across the country.

The availability of councillors’ personal information can make them vulnerable in their
own homes and the current legislation lacks clarity in relation to when home
addresses can be withheld from the public register of interests. There is also an
ongoing presumption that councillors should share their home address, and this can
put people off from standing for election. Instead, it may be better for the sector to
move towards a presumption that councillors do not share their home addresses
publicly and councillors should have to actively ‘opt-in’ to having this information
shared as with private individuals and their personal information.

Recommendation 4: The Government should prioritise legislation to put
it beyond doubt that councillors can withhold their home address from
the public register of pecuniary interests.

Recommendation 5: The LGA should work with political parties, election
and democratic officers, and organisations responsible for guidance to
raise awareness of the options currently available and promote the
practice of keeping home addresses private during the election process
and once elected.

It is clear in the responses from the call for evidence that councillors experience a lot
of abuse online and that social media can be a fertile ground for abuse and
intimidation. There were significant concerns about the availability of personal
information online and how easily online abuse and translate into physical harm.
Common concerns were about the cumulative impact of ‘pile-on’ abuse and how
online abuse can transcend traditional boundaries into personal spaces 24 hours a
day. The Online Safety Bill currently going through Parliament will aim to better  Print   TopPage 39



19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 30/31

regulate online spaces through protecting users from illegal and harmful content. The
LGA welcome the Bill and will work to ensure it can protect users from harmful abuse
and misinformation that might otherwise fall below the criminal level as currently
written. 

Recommendation 6: Social media companies and internet service
providers should acknowledge the democratic significance of local
politicians and provide better and faster routes for councillors reporting
abuse and misinformation online.

There is currently no clear offer of support or leadership from the Government in
relation to the safety of local councillors, despite serious incidents taking place in the
last year and concerns about the vulnerability of councillors and the impact of abuse
on local democracy. This is in contrast to the centrally coordinated support provided to
MPs in relation to abuse, harassment and personal safety.

Recommendation 7: The relevant Government department should
convene a working group, in partnership with the LGA, to bring together
relevant agencies to develop and implement an action plan to address
the issue of abuse of local politicians and their safety.

More publications about Communities

Get in on the Act: The Local Government (Disqualification) Act 2022 [/publications/get-act-local-
government-disqualification-act-2022]

Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy [/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-
abuse-local-democracy]

National census of local authority councillors 2022 [/publications/national-census-local-
authority-councillors-2022]

More publications in this topic [/publications?topic%5B2518%5D=2518]

You may also be interested in

The LGA's call for evidence quantitative data [/publications/lgas-call-evidence-quantitative-data]  Print   TopPage 40

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/get-act-local-government-disqualification-act-2022
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/national-census-local-authority-councillors-2022
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications?topic%5B2518%5D=2518
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/lgas-call-evidence-quantitative-data


19/10/2022, 20:27 Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy 31/31

  Print   TopPage 41



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Standards Committee 
 

18 November 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Local Government Ombudsman Annual 
Letter 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Paul Roberts - Council Leader 
SMDC 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Karen Lomas - Head of Customer Services 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Non-Specific 

 
 

Appendices Attached: 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 To advise members of the content of the Ombudsman Annual Letter for the 
period April 2021 – March 2022. 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That members note the content of the Ombudsman’s Annual Letter (included 

at Appendix A). 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 The Local Government Ombudsman's Annual Review Letter summarises 

complaints and enquiries received by it in relation to the Council’s activities. 
The letters are published on the Ombudsman's web site together with 
specimen data used to inform the Ombudsman's Annual Report. 

 
3.2 In 2021/22 the Ombudsman received 7 new enquiries or complaints, 

compared with 5 in the previous year.  Detail of the  decisions made and 
investigated complaints in 2021/22 are summarised as follows: 
 

Service Area Complaint Finding 

Upheld (2) 

Not upheld (0) 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



  

Service Area Complaint Finding 

Closed after initial enquiries (5) 

Benefits and Council Tax 
-Upheld 

-21010196 

Ms X complains the Council failed to calculate her 
council tax correctly and then passed her debt on to 
bailif fs w ho were rude and aggressive towards her. 

Ms X feels the Council did not properly understand 
her complaints at stage 1 and 2. 

Ms X w ould like: 

o Her accounts removed from the bailif f  
company; 

o An apology from the bailif f ’s and the 

Council; 

o The bailif f  staff to have training in 
recognising vulnerabilities; 

o The Council to stop using bailif f  
companies; and 

o Compensation. 

 

The Local Government Finance Act 1992 gives local 
authorities the pow er to levy and collect a dw elling tax. 

This is know n as council tax. The main legislation 
concerned w ith the collection and recovery of council tax 
is the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992 (as amended). 

Before a council can pursue someone for council tax it 

must send a demand. If a taxpayer misses a payment, a 
council must issue at least one reminder notice before 
issuing a summons for a liability order in the magistrates’ 
court. They can then seek to recover payment of the 
sum in the liability order by various means. 

A liability order gives a council legal pow ers to take 
enforcement action to collect the money ow ed. The 
council can add the costs of obtaining the order to the 
person’s debt. 

If  someone does not pay the council tax, and the costs, 

the council can ask bailif fs (also referred to as 
enforcement agents) to collect the debt. Bailif fs charge 
fees w hich also must be paid. 

The law  does not define w hat a vulnerable person is. 
The Ministry of Justice has issued ‘Taking Control of 

Goods: National Standards’ (“the Standards”) w hich set 
out the responsibilities of creditors and bailif fs. The 
Standards say - 

Creditors should remember that bailif fs act on their 
behalf and they are accountable for the bailif f ’s actions. 

They must consider if  the debtor is vulnerable and if so, 
agree clear protocols governing the approach the bailif f  
should take. Examples of a vulnerable debtor include 
someone w ho is seriously ill or disabled. 

Bailif fs must not: 

Falsely imply action w ill be taken w hen it cannot legally 
be taken 

Falsely imply a course of action w ill ensue before it is 
possible to know  w hether such action would be 
permissible 

Falsely imply action has been taken w hen it has not 

Falsely imply a debtor refusing entry to a property is an 
offence 

If a bailif f  identif ies a vulnerable debtor, they should alert 
the creditor and ensure they act in accordance with all 

relevant legislation. Bailif fs should be aw are that 
vulnerability may not be immediately obvious. 

What happened 

Ms X had outstanding council tax for three properties. 
After the Council took action as described in paragraph 

10, the accounts were passed to bailif fs on 15 October 

Page 44



  

Service Area Complaint Finding 

2020 

Unfortunately Ms X contracted Covid in November 2020 
and appointed an advocate to act on her behalf. 

The advocate emailed the Council on 26 November 
2020 and the bailif fs on 3 December 2020 asking the 

debts to be put on hold as Ms X w as suffering with 
Covid. 

After a conversation with the advocate on 4th December 
2020, the bailif fs agreed to put the case on hold until 11 
December. 

The bailif fs then emailed Ms X on 15 December seeking 

medical evidence. The Council repeated this request in 
an email on 22 December. 

Ms X tells me she w as admitted to hospital w ith Covid in 
December. 

Betw een December 2020 and March 2021 the bailif fs 
made several telephone calls and a house visit to Ms X. 

Neither Council nor bailif fs heard from Ms X or her 
advocate again until 12 March 2021. The advocate told 

them Ms X w as severely ill. The bailif fs put her case on 
hold again. 

Ms X sent evidence of her condition in the form of sick 
notes from her GP dated 11 November 2020 – 30 
January 2021, and 20 February 2021 – 20 March 2021. 

She also had a letter from her GP dated 15 March 2021 

saying she could not take part in the council tax dispute 
as she w as ill. 

Ms X called the bailif fs on 19 April 2021. Ms X states 
they w ere rude and condescending to her on the phone 
and she ended the call. The bailif f ’s apologised if it 
caused offence and describe the call as “unfriendly”. 

This prompted a formal complaint from Ms X on 21 April 
2021 and the Council told the bailif fs to hold off any 
further action as she “appears to be vulnerable”. 

Analysis  - Ms X says that she felt threatened by the 
bailif fs. She lives w ith her son and w as very ill w ith long 

Covid. She says they w ere anxious every time someone 
knocked at the door. 

While I accept Ms X w as extremely ill and going through 
a diff icult period, the records from the bailif f ’s show  they 

made one house call on 2nd March 2021. On the same 
day her advocate called the bailif fs to say Ms X w as 
suffering with long Covid. 

Once the bailif fs had medical evidence from Ms X they 
put her case on hold and did pause contact. The Council 
did the same once they received medical evidence. 

In the stage 1 complaint response the bailif fs accept the 
telephone staff were being “unfriendly” and spoke over 
Ms X as she w as trying to explain she had long Covid. 
They apologised for this and said they w ould provide 

Page 45



  

Service Area Complaint Finding 

feedback to the manager of the member of staff. 

In response to my enquiries the Council have said that 
all accounts are now on hold and returned from the 
bailif fs. 

The Council say Ms X has had previous debts from other 

addresses which have all been w ritten off. They are not 
pursuing her ex-husband for the debt at one of the 
addresses, as he lives abroad. When a debt is in more 
than one name, all people named are jointly liable for the 
w hole debt. 

The Council has now  granted Ms X Council Tax Support 
as she has a low  income. , The Council say in their 
response to me it is unlikely she w ill be able to pay these 
debts. It w ill therefore put these debts forward for 
consideration for w rite-off. 

Even though Ms X is in receipt of Council Tax Support 
there w ill still be an amount payable for the next f inancial 
year w hich starts on 1 April 2022. The Council w ill set up 
an instalment plan and says Ms X must keep to these 
payments to prevent arrears building up again. 

My findings - I accept Ms X w as suffering with Covid. 
She did not feel the Council or bailif fs w ere adequately 
taking this into consideration. How ever her contact with 
the Council and bailif fs w as limited, and the effects of 

long Covid are a recent discovery. 

I do not f ind fault in the w ay in w hich the bailif fs carried 
out the debt recovery. Every time Ms X or her advocate 

got in touch they put the case on hold, aw aiting further 
evidence. 

How ever I do f ind fault w ith the phone call Ms X had w ith 
the bailif fs on 19th April 2021. This caused Ms X upset 
and distress. 

I do not f ind fault in the Council’s complaint response. 
They w ere thorough and responded to all Ms X’s 
complaints. 

Summary: Ms X complains the Council passed her debt 
recovery on to Enforcement Agents (bailif fs) 
prematurely. She complains the bailif fs w ere aggressive 
and rude tow ards her even though she w as vulnerable 

and suffering with the effects of long Covid. This caused 
her distress. We find fault w ith the bailif fs for a phone 
conversation they had w ith Ms X. They have apologised 
and no further remedy is necessary. 

Council Tax – Upheld 
20013376 

Mrs B complains the Council w rongly added an empty 
property charge to her Council Tax account. She also 
complains it incorrectly told her to appeal to the valuation 
tribunal. 

She says although the Council acknow ledged its mistake and 

refunded the money it failed to consider the unnecessary 
distress, time and trouble it caused her. 

 

Mrs B says she told the Council the property w as fully 
furnished but it still incorrectly applied the empty property 
charge over several years which cost her thousands of 
pounds. 

The Council’s policy says an empty property is one that 
is “unoccupied and substantially unfurnished”. 

The Council had opportunities to identify it had been 
incorrectly charging Mrs B the increased rate of Council 
Tax. Instead, it continued to say the charge w as applied 
correctly and directed her to the valuation tribunal. This 

Page 46



  

Service Area Complaint Finding 

is fault. 

The Council only identif ied its error after we became 
involved. It could have put things right earlier, w hich 
w ould have avoided causing Mrs B unnecessary 
distress, time and trouble. 

Once it established its error the Council apologised and 
arranged a refund for Mrs B. It should also pay Mrs B the 
lost interest on the amount she overpaid betw een 2014 
and 2021. 

Agreed action- 

Within one month of my f inal decision the Council agrees 
to: 

Pay Mrs B £250 in recognition of the unnecessary 
distress, time and trouble it caused her. 

Pay Mrs B the lost interest on the money it overcharged 
her. This should be calculated using the retail price index 
for the relevant period from 2014 to 2021. 

Within tw o months of my f inal decision the Council 
agrees to: 

Review  the information it provides to residents about 

empty property charges. It should ensure the information 
is clear w hen the charge will be applied and w hat 
information the Council needs to make a decision. 

Review  the Council’s policy for empty property charging 
to ensure it does not incorrectly add this charge to 
properties that do not meet the definition. 

The Council should provide the Ombudsman w ith 
evidence it has completed the agreed actions. 

Summary: Mrs B complains the Council incorrectly 
applied an empty property charge to her council tax 
account. She also says it failed to identify its error in its 

complaint process. We find fault w ith the Council. The 
Council agrees actions to remedy the injustice. 

Planning – Closed after initial 
Enquiries  

- 21017211 

The complainant, w hom I shall refer to as Mr X, has 
complained about how  the Council dealt w ith his planning 
application. He says it took the Council too long to determine 
his application and off icers did not communicate w ith him. 

 

Mr X could have appealed to the Planning Inspector after 
eight w eeks if  he w as unhappy with how long the Council 
w as taking to determine his application. I consider it 

w ould have been reasonable for Mr X to have appealed. 
The Planning Inspector is independent and has the 
pow er to grant planning permission. 

Mr X has also complained the Council did not 
communicate w ith him about the application and says his 

requests for updates were ignored. Mr X says this made 
it diff icult to plan for the w orks and could have resulted in 
f inancial losses. How ever, this is related to the matter 
w hich could have been appealed. The Ombudsman w ill 

not usually investigate w hen someone had a right to 
appeal to the Planning Inspector, even if the appeal 
w ould not address all the issues complained about. 

Furthermore, I cannot say Mr X has been caused any 
signif icant injustice because the Council did not update 

him about the application as it granted planning 
permission shortly after Mr X contacted it. 

Page 47



  

Service Area Complaint Finding 

Summary: We will not investigate this complaint about 
how  the Council dealt w ith the complainant’s planning 

application. This is because the complainant had the 
right to appeal to the Planning Inspector. 

 

Planning -Closed after initial 
enquiries 
-21009633 

 

The complainant, Mrs X, complains the Council relied on 
inaccurate information provided by her neighbour in deciding 
to grant planning permission for development on land near 
her home. She also complains she made a request for 

information from the Council’s planning department but did 
not receive a response. 

In deciding to grant planning permission for the 
development the Council referred to previous law ful use 
of the site. Mrs X disputes the Council’s view  on this 
issue and complains it based its decision on inaccurate 
information. 

We cannot question w hether the Council’s decision is 
correct just because Mrs X disagrees w ith it; w e can only 
look to see if there w as fault in the w ay it reached its 
decision. 

I have seen no evidence of fault by the Council in this 

case; in response to Mrs X’s comments the Council 
sought further information from the applicant and w as 
satisf ied, on the balance of probabilities, that the 
information they provided w as accurate. The planning 

officer’s report addresses the issue and the Council’s 
responses to Mrs X’s complaint explain the decision in 
further detail. There w as no requirement to refer the 

application to the Council’s planning committee and I see 
no basis to criticise its decision to grant planning 
permission. 

Mrs X suggests that if  the Council accepts the 
applicant’s statements it may have missed out on unpaid 

business rates but w e cannot look at this point further. 
This is because any injustice from it affects the public 
purse rather than Mrs X personally. 

We also w ill not investigate Mrs X’s concerns about the 
Council’s failure to respond to her ‘freedom of 

information’ request. This is because it w ould be 
reasonable for Mrs X to go to the Information 
Commissioner. 

Summary: We will not investigate Mrs X’s complaint 
about the Council’s handling of a planning application. 
This is because there is not enough evidence of fault by 

the Council. We w ill not investigate Mrs X’s complaint 
about the Council’s failure to respond to her ‘freedom of 
information’ request as it w ould be reasonable for her to 

take the matter to the Information Commissioner. 
Other (no dept) – Closed after 

initial enquiries. 
21006825 

 

The complainant, I shall call Mr X, complains the Council 

failed to robustly and effectively scrutinise the closure of the 
local hospital Minor Injuries Unit (MIU). 

 

The Council says its Health Overview  and Scrutiny Panel 

scrutinised the closure of the MIU at its meetings 
betw een December 2020 and June 2021. It confirmed 
that the Chief Executive of the relevant NHS Trust and 

the Accountable Officer of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group had attended meetings. It also considered 
representations from councillors and members of a local 
health campaign group. It also shared information 
provided by Mr X w ith members of the Panel. 

The MIU has since reopened. 

Mr X is dissatisf ied w ith the level of scrutiny carried out 

by the Council. But the Council considered the matter at 
meetings inviting senior off icers from the NHS Trust and 
Clinical Commissioning Group to attend. A councillor 

referred to the campaign group (of w hich Mr X is a 
member) as w ell as some issues raised in their 
correspondence. There is not enough evidence of fault 
to justify the cost of an Ombudsman investigation. 

Page 48



  

Service Area Complaint Finding 

We consider complaints of administrative fault w hich has 
caused signif icant personal injustice to the complainant. 

Mr X says the Council’s failure to robustly and effectively 
scrutinise the closure. How ever I do not consider this 
has caused him a signif icant personal injustice w hich 
w arrants an investigation. 

Finally, as the MIU has now  reopened, further 
investigation is unlikely to lead to a different outcome. 

Summary: We will not investigate this complaint about 

the w ay the Council examined the closure of a Minor 
Injuries Unit. There is not enough evidence of fault to 
justify the cost of an Ombudsman investigation. We do 

not consider the complainant has suffered a signif icant 
personal injustice. And, as the Unit has now  reopened, 
further investigation is unlikely to lead to a different 
outcome. 

Planning -Closed after 
initial enquiries 
-21002494 

The complainant, I shall refer to as Mrs D, complains about 

the Council’s issuing of a planning enforcement notice and 
subsequent action. This happened after her former husband, I 
shall call Mr E, carried out unauthorised w ork on a property 
they jointly ow n. 

 

Mrs D says she co-owns a property with Mr E. She says 

Mr E advised her he w ould be enlarging the w indows. 
Ms D says she did not consent to the w ork, however Mr 
E carried out the w ork anyway. 

The Council contacted Mrs D advising it had received a 
complaint about the unauthorised w ork. She says she 

told the Council she w as not responsible, and they 
should contact Mr E. 

The Council advised Mrs D that joint ow ners are all 
responsible. It subsequently served an enforcement 
notice on the property ow ners. 

Mrs D says the Council w as not sympathetic to her 
situation and serving the enforcement notice w as 
excessive. 

If  Mrs D believed the Council’s actions w ere excessive, 
she could have appealed to the Planning Inspector. 

Summary: This complaint concerns the Council’s 
issuing of a planning enforcement notice. We w ill not 
investigate as the complainant had a right to appeal to 

the Planning Inspector. 

Other (no dept) Councillor 
Conduct and Standards 
21000174 

The complainant, w ho I refer to here as Ms C, has 
complained about how  the Council had dealt w ith her 
concerns about a councillor. In summary, these concerns 
relate to the councillor’s actions at a Council meeting and a 
comment on social media. 

 

A council can consider complaints that a councillor has 
breached the Code of Conduct for elected members. We 
cannot investigate such complaints but can look at how  a 
council dealt w ith a complaint about a councillor. 

How ever, we cannot question the council’s decision on a 
complaint if  there w as no fault in how  it w as made. 

The Council’s arrangements for dealing w ith complaints 
about alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct say the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer will review every complaint 

and, after consultation w ith the Independent Person, 
decide if it should formally investigate. The Monitoring 
Officer should let the complainant know  the decision and 
the reasons for it. 

I am satisf ied the Council’s Monitoring Officer considered 

both of Ms C’s complaints and discussed them w ith the 
Independent Person before deciding they w ould not be 
further investigated. I am also satisf ied the Monitoring 
Officer informed Ms C of those decisions and the 
reasons for them. 

Ms C w ould like the Council to state if  the councillor 
breached the Code of Conduct. How ever, as the Council 
decided not to investigate, it did not make a f inding on 

Page 49



  

Service Area Complaint Finding 

this. 

Summary: We will not investigate how  the Council has 
dealt w ith the complainant’s concerns about the actions 
of a councillor. We are unlikely to f ind fault by the 

Council. 

Referred back for local resolution (0) 

 
 

3.3 A copy of the Ombudsman's letter is attached as an appendix to this report. 
 

3.4 Members may also wish to note that the small number of complaints reaching 
the Ombudsman is set against a background of 76 complaints received by the 

Council in the period in question, which helps to illustrate the strength of the 

Council in ensuring complaints are dealt with promptly and appropriately.   
 
3.5 Below is a table showing Local Government Ombudsman figures for 13 Local 

Authorities which are similar in nature to the Council. The average for upheld 
complaints across the 13 is 54%  

 

 
Complaints 

and 
enquiries 
received 
2021/22 

Decisions 
made 

2021/22 

Figures for Upheld / Not upheld 
(detailed investigations carried out) 

 

Upheld Not upheld Total 
% 

Upheld 

Cannock Chase 5 0 0 0 0 0% 

Castle Point 2 0 0 0 0 0% 

Chorley 4        0   0 0 0 0% 

Fenland 2 0 0 0 0 0% 

Forest of Dean 5 1 0 1 1 0% 

High Peak Borough Council 5 1 0 1 1 0% 

Hinckley & Bosworth 5 4 1 3 4 25% 

Kettering 1 1 1 0 1 100% 

Rugby 9 5 2 3 5 40% 

Selby 12 2 0 2 2 0% 

South Derbyshire 5 0 0 0 0 0% 

Staffordshire Moorlands 7 2 2 0 2 100% 

Wyre Forest 3 1 1 0 1 100% 

 

 
4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1  Ensure our services are easily available to all our residents in the appropriate 
channels and provided 'right first time’. 

 
 

Page 50



  

5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 There are none to consider 

 
 

 
Mark Trillo 

Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

 Karen Lomas 
Head of Customer Services 

karen.lomas@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 

 
 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

20 July 2022 
 
By email 
 
Mr Stokes 
Chief Executive 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
 
 
Dear Mr Stokes 
 
Annual Review letter 2022 
 
I write to you with your annual summary of complaint statistics from the Local Government and 

Social Care Ombudsman for the year ending 31 March 2022. The information offers valuable 

insight about your organisation’s approach to complaints. As such, I have sought to share this 

letter with the Leader of your Council and Chair of the appropriate Scrutiny Committee, to 

encourage effective ownership and oversight of complaint outcomes, which offer such valuable 

opportunities to learn and improve.  

Complaint statistics 

Our statistics focus on three key areas that help to assess your organisation’s commitment to 

putting things right when they go wrong: 

Complaints upheld - We uphold complaints when we find fault in an organisation’s actions, 

including where the organisation accepted fault before we investigated. We include the total 

number of investigations completed to provide important context for the statistic. 

Compliance with recommendations - We recommend ways for organisations to put things right 

when faults have caused injustice and monitor their compliance with our recommendations. 

Failure to comply is rare and a compliance rate below 100% is a cause for concern.  

Satisfactory remedy provided by the authority - In these cases, the organisation upheld the 

complaint and we agreed with how it offered to put things right. We encourage the early resolution 

of complaints and credit organisations that accept fault and find appropriate ways to put things 

right.  

Finally, we compare the three key annual statistics for your organisation with similar authorities to 

provide an average marker of performance. We do this for County Councils, District Councils, 

Metropolitan Boroughs, Unitary Councils, and London Boroughs. 

Page 53



Your annual data, and a copy of this letter, will be uploaded to our interactive map,                   

Your council’s performance, on 27 July 2022. This useful tool places all our data and information 

about councils in one place. You can find the detail of the decisions we have made about your 

Council, read the public reports we have issued, and view the service improvements your Council 

has agreed to make as a result of our investigations, as well as previous annual review letters.  

Supporting complaint and service improvement 

I know your organisation, like ours, will have been through a period of adaptation as the 

restrictions imposed by the pandemic lifted. While some pre-pandemic practices returned, many 

new ways of working are here to stay. It is my continued view that complaint functions have been 

under-resourced in recent years, a trend only exacerbated by the challenges of the pandemic. 

Through the lens of this recent upheaval and adjustment, I urge you to consider how your 

organisation prioritises complaints, particularly in terms of capacity and visibility. Properly 

resourced complaint functions that are well-connected and valued by service areas, management 

teams and elected members are capable of providing valuable insight about an organisation’s 

performance, detecting early warning signs of problems and offering opportunities to improve 

service delivery. 

I want to support your organisation to harness the value of complaints and we continue to develop 

our programme of support. Significantly, we are working in partnership with the Housing 

Ombudsman Service to develop a joint complaint handling code. We are aiming to consolidate our 

approaches and therefore simplify guidance to enable organisations to provide an effective, quality 

response to each and every complaint. We will keep you informed as this work develops, and 

expect that, once launched, we will assess your compliance with the code during our 

investigations and report your performance via this letter. 

An already established tool we have for supporting improvements in local complaint handling is 

our successful training programme. We adapted our courses during the Covid-19 pandemic to an 

online format and successfully delivered 122 online workshops during the year, reaching more 

than 1,600 people. To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
Michael King 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England

Page 54

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
http://www.lgo.org.uk/training


Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

For the period ending: 31/03/22  

                                                             

 

 

 

 

Complaints upheld 

  

100% of complaints we 
investigated were upheld. 

This compares to an average of 
51% in similar organisations. 

 
 

2                          
upheld decisions 

 
Statistics are based on a total of 2 

investigations for the period 
between 1 April 2021 to 31 March 

2022 

 

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations 

  

In 100% of cases we were 
satisfied the organisation had 
successfully implemented our 
recommendations. 

This compares to an average of 
100% in similar organisations. 

 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 1 

compliance outcome for the period 
between 1 April 2021 to 31 March 

2022 

• Failure to comply with our recommendations is rare. An organisation with a compliance rate below 100% 
should scrutinise those complaints where it failed to comply and identify any learning. 
 

Satisfactory remedy provided by the organisation 

  

In 50% of upheld cases we 
found the organisation had 
provided a satisfactory remedy 
before the complaint reached 
the Ombudsman.  

This compares to an average of 
20% in similar organisations. 

 

1                      
satisfactory remedy decision 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 2 

upheld decisions for the period 
between 1 April 2021 to 31 March 

2022 

 

100% 

100% 

50% 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Standards Committee  
 

18 November 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Review of the Code of Conduct 
 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 

Councillor Paul Roberts - Leader 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Linden Vernon – Head of Democratic 

Services 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 

Non-Specific 

 

 
Appendices Attached – Proposed Revised Code of Conduct 

 

 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 The reason for the report is to review the Council’s Code of Conduct for 
councillors. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the proposed revised Code of Conduct be recommended to Council for 
adoption. 

 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 The Council is required by the Localism Act 2011 to have in place a code of 

conduct for councillors.  The current version of the code was last reviewed in 
2019. 
 

3.2 In accordance with best practice the Authority’s Code of Conduct should be 
reviewed regularly to ensure that it continues to remain fit for purpose. Any 

amendments would be recommended for adoption by Full Council in advance 
of the all-out elections in May 2023. 

 

Mark Trillo 
Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 

 
 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



  

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

Appendix A – Proposed Revised Code of Conduct Linden Vernon 

Head of Democratic Services 
linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 
4. Detail 
 

4.1 Chapter 7 of The Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to adopt a code 
dealing with the conduct that is expected of members and co-opted members 

of the Authority when they are acting in that capacity.  The Code should be 
consistent with the following 7 “Nolan” principles: 

 

 Selflessness 

 Integrity 

 Objectivity 

 Accountability 

 Openness 

 Honesty 

 Leadership 
 

4.2 The Council last reviewed its code in 2019 which was amended to include the 
following sections: 

 

2.2  respect others and not bully (including any unwanted behaviour that 
makes someone feel intimidated, degraded, humiliated or offended) any 

person. 
 
2.11 Co-operate fully with any investigation carried out in accordance with the 

Council’s Arrangements for dealing with Standards Complaints under the 
Localism Act 2011, and by not making any trivial or malicious allegations 

under those Arrangements. 
 
4.3 In accordance with best practice the Authority’s Code of Conduct should be 

reviewed regularly to ensure that it continues to remain fit for purpose.  Any 
amendments would be recommended for adoption by Full Council in advance 

of the all-out elections in May 2023. 
 
4.4 The structure of the Council’s current code continues to operate well.  

However, it is proposed to revise the code to incorporate an element of the 
Local Government Association’s model code with regards to other interests 

and deciding when it is appropriate to withdraw from participating in respect of 
the matter relating to that interest.  It is proposed to update paragraph 4.3 of 
the code as follows: 

 
4.3 Where you have an interest in accordance with 4.1 and 4.2 above then 

you must consider whether the nature of that interest is so significant that 
you should withdraw from participating in respect of the matter relating to 
that interest.  In making this decision you should ask the following 

question: 

Page 58



  

 
Would a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts believe 
that it would affect your judgment of the wider public interest? 

 
4.5 The Committee is asked to consider this proposed amendment to the code of 

conduct in addition to any other amendments considered to be appropriate.  
 
 

 
 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
 
 

Code of Conduct for Members 
 
 
 
1 Application 

 
This Code of Conduct applies to you whenever you are acting in your capacity as a 
member of Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, including – 
 
1.1 at formal meetings of the Council, its Committees and Sub-Committees, its Cabinet 

and Cabinet Committees 
1.2 when acting as a representative of the authority 
1.3 in taking any decision as a Cabinet member or a Ward Councillor 
1.4 in discharging your functions as a ward Councillor 
1.5 at briefing meetings with officers and 
1.6 at site visits 
1.7 when corresponding with the authority other than in a  private capacity 

 
2 General Conduct 

 
You must – 
 
2.1 provide leadership to the authority and communities within its area, by personal 

example and  
2.2 respect others and not bully (including any unwanted behaviour that makes 

someone feel intimidated, degraded, humiliated or offended) any person 
2.3 recognise that officers (other than political assistants) are employed by and serve 

the whole authority 
2.4 respect the confidentiality of information which you receive as a member – 

2.4.1 not disclosing confidential information to third parties unless required by 
law to do so or where there is a clear and over-riding public interest in 
doing so; and 

2.4.2 not obstructing third parties’ legal rights of access to information 
2.5 not misconduct yourself in a manner which is likely to bring the authority into 

disrepute 
2.6 use your position as a member in the public interest and not for personal advantage  
2.7 accord with the authority’s reasonable rules on the use of public resources for 

private and political purposes 
2.8 exercise your own independent judgement, taking decisions for good and 

substantial reasons – 
2.8.1 attaching appropriate weight to all relevant considerations including, 

where appropriate, public opinion and the views of political groups 
2.8.2 paying due regard to the advice of officers, and in particular to the advice 

of the statutory officers, namely the Head of Paid Service, the Chief 
Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer and 

2.8.3 stating the reasons for your decisions where those reasons are not 
otherwise apparent 

2.9 account for your actions, particularly by supporting the authority’s scrutiny function 
2.10 ensure that the authority acts within the law. 

Page 61



2.11 Co-operate fully with any investigation carried out in accordance with the Council’s 
Arrangements for dealing with Standards Complaints under the Localism Act 2011, 
and by not making any trivial or malicious allegations under those Arrangements. 

 
 

3 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

 
You must - 
 
3.1 comply with the statutory requirements to register, disclose and withdraw from 

participating in respect of any matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest 

3.2 ensure that your register of interests is kept up to date and notify the Monitoring 
Officer in writing within 28 days of becoming aware of any change in respect of your 
disclosable pecuniary interests 

3.3 make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of any disclosable pecuniary 
interest at any meeting at which you are present at which an item of business which 
affects or relates to the subject matter of that interest is under consideration, at or 
before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest becomes 
apparent, and leave the room where the meeting is held while any discussion or 
voting takes place. 

3.4 “Meeting” means any meeting organised by or on behalf of the authority, including – 
3.4.1 any meeting of the Council, or a Committee or Sub-Committee of Council 
3.4.2 any meeting of the Cabinet and any Committee of the Cabinet 
3.4.3 in taking a decision as a Ward Councillor or as a Member of the Cabinet 
3.4.4 at any briefing by officers; and 
3.4.5 at any site visit to do with business of the authority 

 
4 Other Interests 

 
4.1 In addition to the requirements of Paragraph 3, if you attend a meeting at which any 

item of business is to be considered, and you are aware that you have an interest in 
that item which may or may not be entered in your register of interests, you must 
make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that interest at or before the 
consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest becomes apparent. 

4.2 You have an interest, as referred to at 4.1 above, in an item of business of your 
authority where – 
4.2.1 a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as 

affecting the well-being or financial standing of you or a member of your 
family or a person with whom you have a close association to a greater 
extent than it would affect the majority of the Council Tax payers, 
ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward or electoral area for which you have 
been elected or otherwise of the authority’s administrative area, or 

4.2.2 it relates to or is likely to affect any of the interests listed in the Table in 
the Appendix to this Code, but in respect of a member of your family 
(other than a “relevant person”) or a person with whom you have a close 
association, or 

4.2.3 it relates to an interest (other than a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest) 
entered in your register of interests, 

and that interest is not a disclosable pecuniary interest. 
4.3 Where you have an interest in accordance with 4.1 and 4.2 above then you must 

consider whether the nature of that interest is so significant that you should 
withdraw from participating in respect of the matter relating to that interest.  In 
making this decision you should ask the following question: 
 

Page 62



Would a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts believe that it would 
affect your judgment of the wider public interest? 

 
5 Gifts and Hospitality 

 
5.1 You must, within 28 days of receipt, notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any 

gift, benefit or hospitality with a value in excess of £25 which you have accepted as 
a member from any person or body other than the authority. 

5.2 The Monitoring Officer will place your notification on a public register of gifts and 
hospitality. 

5.3 This duty to notify the Monitoring Officer does not apply where the gift, benefit or 
hospitality comes within any description approved by the authority for this purpose. 

Page 63



Appendix 

 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate in respect of any matter in which a member 
has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012 as follows – 
 

Interest Prescribed description 

Employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 

 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from the relevant authority) made or 
provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by M in carrying out duties as a 
member, or towards the election expenses of M. 

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a 
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and 
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992). 

 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant 
person (or a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest) and the relevant authority— 

(a)  under which goods or services are to be provided 
or works are to be executed; and 

(b)  which has not been fully discharged. 

 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area 
of the relevant authority. 

 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy 
land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or 
longer. 

 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge)— 

(a)  the landlord is the relevant authority; and 

(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest. 

 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 

(a)  that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; 
and 

(b)  either— 

 

(i)  the total nominal value of the securities exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body; or  

Page 64



 

(ii)  if the share capital of that body is of more than one 
class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one 
class in which the relevant person has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

 
For this purpose – 
 

“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011; 
 
“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the 
relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a director, 
or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest; 
 
“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and 
provident society; 
 
“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not 
carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land 
or to receive income; 
 
“M” means a member of a relevant authority; 
 
“member” includes a co-opted member;  
 
“relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member; 
 
“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M gives a 
notification for the purposes of section 30(1) or 31(7), as the case may be, of the Act; 
 
“relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) of the Act; 
 
“securities” means  shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building 
society. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 67

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 69

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the previous meeting.
	5 Debate Not Hate Report
	Appendix A

	6 Local Government Ombudsman Annual Letter
	Appendix

	7 Review of the Code of Conduct
	Appendix A

	9 To approve as a correct record the Exempt Minutes of the previous meeting.
	10 Standards Complaints Monitoring Report

